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Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
February 27, 2013 
 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations, and cash 

flow of the PHX Energy Services Corp. (“PHX Energy” or the “Corporation”) should be read in conjunction with the 

Corporation’s annual audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the 

accompanying notes contained therein, as well as other sections contained within the Corporation’s 2012 annual report.  

Readers can also obtain additional information on the Corporation from its Information Circular and Annual Information Form 

(“AIF”) filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. This MD&A has been prepared taking into consideration information available up 

to and including February 27, 2013.  

  

PHX Energy’s audited annual financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 has been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The MD&A and audited annual financial statements 

were reviewed by PHX Energy’s Audit Committee and approved by PHX Energy’s Board of Directors on February 27, 2013. 

 

 

 

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and 

Statements  
 

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws.  The 

use of "expect", "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "objective", "ongoing", "may", "will", "project", "could", "should", "can", 

"believe", "plans", "intends", "strategy" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking information or statements. 

 

The forward-looking information and statements included in this MD&A are not guarantees of future performance and should 

not be unduly relied upon. These statements and information involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 

factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements 

and information.  The Corporation believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements and information are 

reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct.  Such forward-looking 

statements and information included in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon.  These forward-looking statements and 

information speak only as of the date of this MD&A. 
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In particular, forward-looking information and statements contained in this MD&A include, without limitation: 

 

 PHX Energy foresees the momentum of its international operations continuing, and with the addition of 

resistivity work and a new client in Albania, intensified marketing efforts in Russia and Colombia, and a 

continued focus on delivering exceptional service, international operations’ contribution to consolidated 

revenue is expected to increase in the future years.   

 PHX Energy is committed to growing its RWD offering and expects to add 7 RWD systems by mid-year. 

 The 2013 capital expenditure budget is projected to be $30.4 million.   

 There are many synergies between the EDR services offered by RMS and the Corporation’s current service 

offering that can be realized. PHX Energy believes that its investments in RMS present a positive opportunity 

to participate in an attractive segment of the oil and natural gas industry that has few competitors and will 

strategically assist the Corporation in achieving its long-term goals to expand its international and US 

operating segments.   

 It is expected RMII will commence operations in Russia in 2013. 

 PHX Energy is currently examining ways to help reduce drilling motor and MWD system repair costs. 

 Several cost reduction strategies have been started, including the integration of the Peruvian and Colombian 

management teams with the aim of realizing cost savings and improved profitability from better rationalization 

of manpower and equipment in South America.   

 The expected combined Canadian federal and provincial tax rate for 2012 is 25 percent. 

 The Corporation’s experience level is rising in the Montney, Duvernay, and deep basin plays in Canada and 

believes there is potential opportunities for expansion. 

 PHX Energy is committed to implementing and growing initiatives, such as RADD and its Insight drilling 

optimization operations, that aim to provide its customers exceptional service and create drilling efficiencies. It 

is expected that both these initiatives will provide a positive impact on Canadian margins in 2013.  

 The US motor rental division is being expanded to the Mid-Continent area of the Gulf Coast region and the 

Rocky Mountain region.   

 The Corporation expects to add 3 RWD systems in the US in early 2013 and foresees RWD services and its 

motor rental divisions propelling further US growth. 
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 The Corporation is continuing to hire, train, and develop local Albanian staff, which is expected to create 

further efficiencies and at the same time, goodwill by supporting the local economy.   

 In 2013, PHX Energy will focus on exploring expansion opportunities for its Eastern European operations. 

 It is anticipated that further growth will be achieved in 2013 as Phoenix Russia has already been awarded 

additional rigs by both an existing client and new clients in Siberia.  In addition, the Corporation has 

participated in numerous tender invitations for work to be executed in 2013 and is awaiting the award of these 

tenders.   

 PHX Energy remains confident in the Colombian market and its ability to provide fit-for-purpose services 

throughout the region. 

 Phoenix Peru has been invited to compete for additional work in 2013 and it is believed that this opportunity 

will lead to modest growth in 2013. 

 The Corporation's ability to maintain the current level of dividends to its shareholders is dependent upon the 

realization of cash flow from operations, and if the Corporation does not meet its budgeted cash flow from 

operations, dividends to shareholders may be reduced. 

 Planned capital expenditures are expected to be financed from a combination of one or more of the following, 

cash flow from operations, the Corporation’s unused credit facilities or equity, if necessary. However, if a 

sustained period of market uncertainty and financial market volatility persists in 2013, the Corporation's 

activity levels, cash flows and access to credit may be negatively impacted, and the expenditure level would 

be reduced accordingly. 

 

The above are stated under the headings: "Overall Performance", "Operating Costs and Expenses", "Segmented 

Information", "Liquidity", "Cash Requirements for Capital Expenditures", and "Proposed Transactions". In addition, 

statements regarding the expected impact of adopting Future Changes in Accounting Policies and all information contained 

within the Financial Instruments, Business Risk and Outlook section of this report contains forward-looking statements. 

 

In addition to other material factors, expectations and assumptions which may be identified in this MD&A and other 

continuous disclosure documents of the Corporation referenced herein, assumptions have been made in respect of such 

forward-looking statements and information regarding, among other things: the Corporation will continue to conduct its 

operations in a manner consistent with past operations; the general continuance of current industry conditions; anticipated 

financial performance, business prospects, impact of competition, strategies, the general stability of the economic and 

political environment in which the Corporation operates; exchange and interest rates; tax laws; the sufficiency of budgeted 
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capital expenditures in carrying out planned activities; the availability and cost of labour and services and the adequacy of 

cash flow; debt and ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms to fund its planned expenditures, which are subject to 

change based on commodity prices; market conditions and future oil and natural gas prices; and potential timing delays. 

Although Management considers these material factors, expectations and assumptions to be reasonable based on 

information currently available to it, no assurance can be given that they will prove to be correct.  

 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive.  Additional information on these and other 

factors that could affect the Corporation's operations and financial results are included in reports on file with the Canadian 

Securities Regulatory Authorities and may be accessed through the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com) or at the 

Corporation's website.  The forward-looking statements and information contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by 

this cautionary statement.  The Corporation does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-

looking statements or information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be 

required by applicable securities laws.  
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About PHX Energy Services Corp. 
 

The Corporation, through its subsidiary entities, provides horizontal and directional technology and drilling services to oil and 

natural gas producing companies in Canada, the US, Albania, Peru, Russia, and Colombia. PHX Energy develops and 

manufactures its E-360 electromagnetic (“EM”) and P-360 positive pulse measurement while drilling (“MWD”) technologies 

that are made available for internal operational use.  

 

PHX Energy’s Canadian operations are conducted through Phoenix Technology Services LP. The Corporation maintains its 

corporate head office, research and development, Canadian sales, service and operational centres in Calgary, Alberta. In 

addition, PHX Energy has a facility in Estevan, Saskatchewan.  PHX Energy’s US operations, conducted through the 

Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc. (“Phoenix USA”), is headquartered in Houston, 

Texas. Phoenix USA has sales and service facilities in Houston, Texas; Traverse City, Michigan; Casper, Wyoming;  Denver, 

Colorado; Fort Worth, Texas; Midland, Texas; Buckhannon, West Virginia; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and Oklahoma City, 

Oklahoma. Internationally, PHX Energy has sales offices and service facilities in Albania, Peru, Russia, and Colombia, and an 

administrative office in Nicosia, Cyprus.   

 

As at December 31, 2012, PHX Energy had approximately 790 full-time employees and the Corporation utilized over  

300 additional field consultants in 2012.   

 

The common shares of PHX Energy trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol PHX. 
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Financial Highlights  
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts, percentages and shares outstanding) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31,  Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Operating Results (unaudited) (unaudited)  
 

   

Revenue  79,473 73,606 8  301,720 260,063 16 

Net earnings 4,537 5,284 (14)  17,707 18,328 (3) 

Earnings per share – diluted 0.16 0.19 (16)  0.63 0.65 (3) 

EBITDA (1) 13,575 13,566 -  48,837 45,007 9 

EBITDA per share – diluted (1) 0.48 0.48 -  1.73 1.59 9 

Cash Flow        

Cash flows from operating activities  13,748 19,376 (29)  33,070 23,224 42 

Funds from operations (1)  13,890 13,182 5  50,621 44,233 14 

Funds from operations per share – diluted (1) 0.49 0.47 4  1.79 1.56 15 

Dividends paid  5,080 3,165 61  18,595 12,474 49 

Dividends per share (2) 0.18 0.12 50  0.66 0.48 38 

Capital expenditures  5,334 15,012 (64)  51,452 49,280 4 

        

Financial Position, December 31,         

Working capital      45,480 44,868 1 

Long-term debt      80,000 56,000 43 

Shareholders’ equity      115,095 113,868 1 

Common shares outstanding     28,241,371 28,091,062 1 
 

(1) Refer to non-GAAP measures section. 
(2) Dividends made by the Corporation on a per share basis in the period. 

 

 

 

Non-GAAP Measures 
 

PHX Energy uses certain performance measures throughout this MD&A that are not recognizable under Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These performance measures include earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization (“EBITDA”), EBITDA per share, funds from operations and funds from operations per share. Management 

believes that these measures provide supplemental financial information that is useful in the evaluation of the Corporation’s 

operations and are commonly used by other oil and natural gas service companies. Investors should be cautioned, however, 

that these measures should not be construed as alternatives to measures determined in accordance with GAAP as an 

indicator of PHX Energy’s performance. The Corporation’s method of calculating these measures may differ from that of 

other organizations, and accordingly, these may not be comparable. Please refer to the non-GAAP measures section.      
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Overall Performance  
 

Aided by international and US growth, PHX Energy generated an all-time record level of revenue, operating days, EBITDA 

and funds from operations in 2012. 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation generated consolidated revenue of $301.7 million as compared to 

$260.1 million in the 2011-year; an increase of 16 percent.  EBITDA increased by 9 percent to $48.8 million in 2012 as 

compared to $45.0 million in 2011, and the Corporation’s funds from operations were $50.6 million in 2012, which is  

14 percent greater than the  $44.2 million achieved in 2011.   

 

In North America, the industry trend toward horizontal and directional drilling has never been sturdier. Industry horizontal and 

directional drilling activity represented approximately 88 percent (as measured by drilling days) and 71 percent (as measured 

by rigs running per day) of the 2012 total drilling activity in Canada and the US, respectively. This compared to 87 percent in 

Canada and 69 percent in the US for the 2011-year.  (Sources: Daily Oil Bulletin and Baker Hughes)   

 

US operations achieved significant growth in 2012 as a result of an expanded marketing team, successful penetration in the 

Permian Basin, South Texas, and Mid-Continent markets, and the expansion of the motor rental division in Midland, Texas.  

US revenue, as a percentage of consolidated revenue, was 46 percent in 2012 as compared to 36 percent in 2011. 

 

International operations were also robust, particularly in Albania and Russia. In 2012, the international operating segment 

represented 12 percent of consolidated revenue as compared to 9 percent in the prior year.  PHX Energy foresees this 

momentum continuing, and with the addition of resistivity work and a new client in Albania, intensified marketing efforts in 

Russia and Colombia, and a continued focus on delivering exceptional service, international operations’ contribution to 

consolidated revenue is expected to increase in the future years.   

 

During 2012, the Corporation successfully expanded the deployment of its various value added directional  

drilling technologies, particularly its resistivity while drilling (“RWD”) systems, in most of its operating regions, and this 

contributed to higher positive margins.  PHX Energy is committed to growing its RWD offering and expects to add 7 RWD 

systems by mid-year. 

 

  



PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2012 Annual Report 

 

 

 

-8- 

To support strong operational activity levels, a record level of capital expenditures, $51.5 million, was incurred in 2012.  With 

these capital expenditures, PHX Energy’s down hole performance drilling motor fleet increased by over 200 motors and job 

capacity increased to 210 concurrent jobs from 190 in 2011. The greater job capacity resulted from the addition of 9 P-360 

positive pulse MWD systems, 6 E-360 EM MWD systems, and 5 RWD systems.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s 

MWD fleet consisted of 133 P-360 positive pulse MWD systems, 65 E-360 EM MWD systems, and 12 RWD systems. Of 

these, 86 MWD systems were deployed in Canada, 94 in the US, 15 in Russia, 6 in Albania, 5 in Colombia, and 4 in Peru.     

 
The Corporation’s capital expenditures were financed by cash flow from operations and borrowings under the Corporation’s 

credit facilities.  On September 6, 2012, the Corporation entered into a new loan agreement with a bank syndicate.  Under 

the terms of the agreement, the Corporation now has access to credit facilities aggregating to approximately $130 million for 

a term of three years.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation carried long-term debt of $80 million and working capital of 

$45.5 million. 

 

The 2013 capital expenditure budget has been approved by the Board of Directors and is projected to be $30.4 million.   

     

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation paid dividends of $0.66 per share to its shareholders (2011 - $0.48 

per share), or $18.6 million (2011 - $12.5 million).  PHX Energy ended 2012 with a cash dividend payout ratio of 37 percent 

(cash dividends paid divided by funds from operations). 

 

 

Equity Financing  
There were no equity financings undertaken by the Corporation in the 2012 and 2011-years.  The Corporation has financed 

its operations and capital expenditures through its internally generated cash flows and bank borrowings.  

 

 

Investments 
During the year, PHX Energy invested in shares of and entered a Joint Venture with RMS Systems Inc. (“RMS”), who has 

developed an electronic drilling recorder ("EDR") technology that offers drilling operators the ability to remotely view down 

hole data, monitor drilling progress in real-time and create meaningful data analysis.  There are many synergies between the 

EDR services offered by RMS and the Corporation’s current service offering that can be realized. PHX Energy believes that 

these investments present a positive opportunity to participate in an attractive segment of the oil and natural gas industry that 

has few competitors and will strategically assist the Corporation in achieving its long-term goals to expand its international 

and US operating segments.  The Joint Venture couples PHX Energy’s marketing expertise and relationships in the US and 

internationally with RMS’s technical expertise related to their EDR products and services. 
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On January 25, 2012, the Corporation invested in publicly traded equity securities of RMS, which have been designated as 

financial assets through profit or loss. 

 

On May 18, 2012, the Corporation entered into a joint venture agreement with RMS, pursuant to which, the parties have 

incorporated RigManager International Inc. (“RMII”) which is equally owned by the two parties.  Pursuant to the joint venture, 

RMS transferred all of its interest in its wholly-owned US subsidiary, RigManager Inc., to RMII and granted RMII an exclusive 

perpetual license to market and distribute RMS’ EDR technology worldwide outside Canada.  During the year, RMII 

continued operations in the US and started operations in Albania and Mexico. It is expected operations in Russia will 

commence in 2013.   

 

On October 22, 2012, the Corporation completed a private placement purchase of additional RMS shares thereby increasing 

its interest in RMS to 19.5 percent. As part of this transaction, a second representative of PHX Energy was appointed to the 

Board of Directors of RMS.  As at October 22, 2012, RMS became an equity-accounted investee of PHX Energy. 

 

 

 

Key Drivers of the Corporation’s Business  
PHX Energy considers the following to be the key drivers of its business.  

 World demand for natural gas and oil commodities directly affect oil and natural gas prices. These in turn have 

a direct impact on the Corporation’s customers’ level of cash flows and their ability to fund capital drilling 

programs with the use of debt or equity financing, ultimately impacting PHX Energy’s activity levels.   

 New drilling technologies must be continually developed for the Corporation to further expand and meet the 

ongoing demands from its customers, oil and natural gas producing companies, for greater operating 

efficiencies.  

 Superior customer service and satisfaction must be delivered and achieved consistently in order to retain 

business. 

 The Corporation must attract, train and retain key personnel in order to ensure future growth. 

 Policies in areas such as taxation put in place by government authorities can affect the profitability and overall 

activity levels of the industry, the Corporation and its customers.  
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Key Performance Measures  
There are several performance measures that are used by the Corporation to assess its performance relative to its strategies 

and goals, the most significant of which are:  

 EBITDA and EBITDA as a percentage of revenue; 

 gross profit margin; 

 cash dividend payout ratio;  

 the reliability of the Corporation’s equipment and ability to provide high quality services in the field; and  

 health and safety performance targets.  

 

 

 

Industry Activity and Statistics  
 

Canadian Industry 
The dominance of horizontal and directional drilling continued in the Canadian industry in 2012, as depicted in the chart 

below, however, the weaker commodity markets generally slowed overall industry activity levels.  Due to lower natural gas 

prices and the increasing gap in the Canadian oil price differential, total wells drilled decreased from 12,887 in 2011 to 

11,127 in 2012; a 14 percent decrease. This decrease in total activity impacted the number of horizontal and directional 

drilling days in 2012 which were also down 15 percent when compared to 2011. However, the upside remains that despite 

fewer total wells drilled when compared to 5 years ago there are significantly more wells and drilling days involving horizontal 

drilling projects, with the number of horizontal drilling days in 2012 representing a 117 percent gain over the number of days 

in 2008. The most active areas in 2012 within the Western Canada Sedimentary Basin were in the Viking in central Alberta 

the Montney in northeastern British Columbia, the Cardium in central Alberta, the Bakken in southeastern Saskatchewan and 

heavy oil plays. (Source: Peters & Co. Limited)  
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Industry Horizontal & Directional Drilling Days in Canada 
Source: Daily Oil Bulletin 
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US Industry  
Generally US activity levels were flat in 2012 when compared to 2011, with the average number of horizontal and directional 

rigs running per day increasing 5 percent and the overall average number of total rigs running per day increasing 2 percent.  

The trend toward horizontal and directional drilling also incrementally increased to a new high in 2012 and horizontal and 

directional activity represented 71 percent of total activity, as depicted in the chart below.  In the US, the most active regions 

in 2012 were: Permian (average of 392 active rigs), Bakken (average of 199 active rigs), Eagle Ford (average of 183 active 

rigs) and oil regions of the Anadarko (average of 181 active rigs).  (Source: Peters & Co Limited) 

  

 

Industry Average Yearly US Horizontal & Directional Rig Count 
Source: Baker Hughes 
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Results of Operations  
Three-Month Period and Year Ended December 31, 2012 

 

Revenue  
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Revenue 79,473 73,606 8  301,720 260,063 16 

 

Despite continual weak industry activity in Canada, PHX Energy generated consolidated revenue for the three-month period 

ended December 31, 2012 of $79.5 million, an 8 percent increase compared to the $73.6 million in the corresponding 2011-

period.  This level of quarterly revenue was a record for a fourth quarter and the third highest in the Corporation’s history, 

with the all-time record being achieved in the third quarter of 2012 followed by the revenue achieved in the first quarter of the 

year.  Consolidated operating days increased by 8 percent to 6,690 days in 2012 from 6,210 days in the 2011-quarter and 

were also a fourth quarter record.  Average consolidated day rates for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012, 

excluding the motor rental division in Midland, Texas, were $11,671 which is comparable to the day rates of $11,695 realized 

in the fourth quarter of 2011.   

 

The demand for horizontal and directional drilling services continued to be strong in Canada and US. In the 2012-quarter, 

horizontal and directional drilling activity represented a record 93 percent of total Canadian industry drilling days (2011 –  

92 percent).  In the US, horizontal and directional activity represented approximately 72 percent of the rigs running per day in 

the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to 69 percent in the 2011-quarter. (Sources: Daily Oil Bulletin and Baker Hughes)   

 

International operations also generated record level of revenues for a fourth quarter.  International revenue, as a percentage 

of total consolidated revenue, increased to 12 percent in the 2012-quarter compared to 9 percent in the 2011-quarter.    

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, PHX Energy generated record consolidated revenue of $301.7 million, a 16 percent 

increase compared to 2011 revenue of $260.1 million.  This achievement is the result of the Corporation’s strategy to grow its 

US and international regions.  US and international revenue, as a percentage of total consolidated revenue, grew to 46 and 

12 percent, respectively, for the 2012-year as compared to 36 and 9 percent in 2011.  Consolidated operating days 

increased by 6 percent to a record 24,930 days compared to 23,458 in 2011.  Average consolidated day rates for the year 

ended December 31, 2012, excluding the motor rental division in Midland, Texas, increased by 8 percent to $11,903 from 

$11,039 in the corresponding 2011-period.  The 2012 average consolidated day rates are stronger due in part to higher 

international activity and greater utilization of the Corporation’s RWD technology.     
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Operating Costs and Expenses 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Direct costs 62,990 56,253 12  238,168 201,251 18 

Depreciation & amortization 
    (included in direct costs) 5,800 4,447 30  21,336 16,171 32 

Gross profit as percentage of revenue  
    excluding depreciation & amortization 28% 30%   28% 29%  

 

Direct costs are comprised of field and shop expenses, and include depreciation and amortization on the Corporation’s 

equipment.  Excluding depreciation and amortization, gross profit as a percentage of revenue was 28 percent for the three-

month period ended December 31, 2012 as compared to 30 percent in the comparable 2011-period. For the year ended 

December 31, 2012, gross profit as a percentage of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization) was 28 percent as 

compared to 29 percent in 2011.  

 

The slight decrease in PHX Energy’s margins in the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2012 is due to the 

following factors: 

 slower industry activity in Canada,  

 weaker than expected activity for the Corporation in Peru and Colombia, and  

 increased performance drilling motor and MWD system repair costs in Canada and US.  PHX Energy is currently 

examining ways to help reduce these costs. 

 

Several other cost reduction strategies have been started, including the integration of the Peruvian and Colombian management 

teams with the aim of realizing cost savings from better rationalization of manpower and equipment in South America.   

 

The overall negative impact on margins was partially offset by lower third party equipment rentals and greater utilization of 

the Corporation’s RWD technology, which is at a premium.  The Corporation’s third party equipment rentals for the fourth 

quarter of 2012 were $1.9 million, or 2 percent of consolidated revenue, as compared to $2.8 million, or 4 percent of 

revenue, in the corresponding 2011-quarter.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, third party equipment rentals were 

$8.8 million, or 3 percent of consolidated revenue, versus $15.1 million, or 6 percent of revenue, in 2011.  

 
Depreciation and amortization for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 increased by 30 percent to $5.8 million 

as compared to $4.4 million in the 2011-quarter.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, depreciation and amortization 

increased by 32 percent to $21.3 million from $16.2 million in 2011.  The increase in both periods is the result of the 

Corporation’s record level of capital expenditure programs in 2011 and 2012.  
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) costs 8,456 8,512 (1)  34,467 31,618 9 

Share-based payments (included in SG&A costs) 410 483 (15)  2,265 2,971 (24) 

SG&A costs excluding share-based payments  
    as a percentage of revenue 10% 11%   11% 11%  

 

SG&A costs for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 were $8.5 million which is similar to the costs incurred in 

the 2011-period.  Included in SG&A costs are share-based payments of $0.4 million in the 2012-quarter as compared to a 

$0.5 million in the 2011-quarter.  Excluding these costs, SG&A costs represented 10 percent of consolidated revenue in the 

2012 three-month period compared to 11 percent in the 2011-period.   

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, SG&A costs increased by 9 percent to $34.5 million as compared to $31.6 million in 

2011.  Excluding share-based payments of $2.3 million in the 2012-year and $3.0 million in the 2011-year, SG&A costs as a 

percentage of consolidated revenue were 11 percent in both years.  

 

SG&A costs, excluding share-based payments, generally increased in dollar terms during 2012 due to higher payroll 

expenses and marketing related costs associated with stronger US and international activity.  

 

Share-based payments relate to the amortization of the fair values of issued options of the Corporation using the Black-

Scholes model.  In the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2012, share-based payments decreased by 15 

percent and 24 percent, respectively, as the Corporation has not made significant option issuances since December 2011.  

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Research and development expense 321 503 (36)  1,985 2,124 (7) 

 

Research and development (“R&D”) expenditures charged to net earnings during the three-month periods ended December 

31, 2012 and 2011 were $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively.  In addition, during the same 2012-period, $39,000  

(2011 - $128,000) were capitalized as development costs on certain projects.  

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, R&D expenditures of $2.1 million were incurred, of which $151,000 were capitalized 

as deferred development costs.  R&D expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $3.2 million, of which  

$1.1 million were capitalized.    

 

  



PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2012 Annual Report 

 

 

 

-16- 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Finance expense 1,091 646 69  3,233 2,097 54 

 

Finance expenses relate to interest charges on the Corporation’s long-term and short-term bank facilities. For the three-

month period ended December 31, 2012, finance charges increased to $1.1 million from $0.6 million in the 2011-period. 

Finance charges increased to $3.2 million in the 2012-year from $2.1 million in 2011. The increase in the finance expense in 

both 2012-periods is the result of additional bank borrowings made to fund PHX Energy’s capital expenditure programs in 

2011 and 2012.  

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011 % Change  2012 2011 % Change 

Gains on disposition of drilling equipment 575 1,859 (69)  2,727 5,589 (51) 

Foreign exchange losses (89) (906) (90)  (1,267) (1,377) (8) 

Provision for bad debt (108) (173) (38)  (15) (447) (97) 

Losses from the change in fair value of investment 
    in equity securities 

- - -  (490) - n.m. 

Other income 378 780 (52)  955 3,765 (75) 

n.m. – not meaningful 

 

For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2012, PHX Energy realized gains on disposition of drilling 

equipment of $0.6 million (2011 - $1.9 million) and $2.7 million (2011 - $5.6 million), respectively. The dispositions of drilling 

equipment relate primarily to equipment lost in well bores that are uncontrollable in nature. The gain reported is net of any 

asset retirements that are made before the end of the equipment's useful life and self-insured down hole equipment losses, if 

any. Gains typically result from insurance programs undertaken whereby proceeds for the lost equipment are at current 

replacement values, which are higher than the respective equipment's book value. There were fewer occurrences of losses 

in the 2012-periods as compared to the corresponding 2011-periods.  In addition, there were more occurrences of scrapped 

assets in the 2012-year. 

 

Offsetting other income for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 are foreign exchange losses of $0.1 million 

(2011 - $0.9 million) and a bad debt provision of $0.1 million (2011 – $0.2 million).  For the year ended December 31, 2012, 

other expenses offsetting other income include foreign exchange losses of $1.3 million (2011 - $1.4 million), bad debt 

provisions of $15,000 (2011 - $0.4 million), and losses from the change in fair value of investment in equity securities of $0.5 

million (2011 - nil).   
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For the year ended December 31, 2012, foreign exchange losses resulted mainly from fluctuations in the LEK-CDN and 

RUR-CDN exchange rates.  Management has implemented strategies to mitigate this foreign exchange exposure in  

future periods. 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, losses from the change in fair value of investment in equity securities relate to the 

investment in the publicly traded equity securities of RMS Systems Inc., which has been designated as financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss before October 22, 2012.  As at October 22, 2012, RMS became an equity-accounted investee  

of PHX Energy. 

 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011  2012 2011 

Provision for income taxes 2,147 3,189  6,561 8,411 

 

The provision for income taxes for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 was $2.1 million as compared to  

$3.2 million in the 2011-period.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, the provision for income taxes was $6.6 million as 

compared to $8.4 million in 2011. The expected combined Canadian federal and provincial tax rate for 2012 is 25 percent.  

The effective tax rates in the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2012 of 32 percent and 27 percent, 

respectively, are higher than the expected rate due to the profitability of US operations where tax rates are higher, non-

recognition deferred tax assets for foreign losses, and non-deductibility of share-based payments.     

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts and percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Net earnings 4,537 5,284 (14)  17,707 18,328 (3) 

Earnings per share – diluted 0.16 0.19 (16)  0.63 0.65 (3) 

EBITDA 13,575 13,566 -  48,837 45,007 9 

EBITDA per share – diluted 0.48 0.48 -  1.73 1.59 9 

EBITDA as a percentage of revenue 17% 18%   16% 17%  

 

The Corporation’s level of net earnings in the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2012 decreased due to 

lower margins, higher depreciation expenses and higher finance expenses. EBITDA for the fourth quarter of 2012 is 

comparable to that achieved in the 2011-quarter.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, EBITDA increased by 9 percent 

due primarily to activity growth in the US and international regions.  EBITDA as a percentage of revenue for the  

three-month period ended December 31, 2012 was 17 percent (2011 – 18 percent) and for the 2012-year was 16 percent  

(2011 – 17 percent).  
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Segmented Information 
 

The Corporation reports three operating segments on a geographical basis throughout the Canadian provinces of Alberta, 

Saskatchewan, British Columbia, and Manitoba; throughout the Gulf Coast, Northeast and Rocky Mountain regions of the 

US; and internationally in Albania, Peru, Russia and Colombia.   

 

 

Canada  
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Revenue 32,344 43,842 (26)  126,712 144,416 (12) 

Reportable segment profit before tax 4,096 9,652 (58)  16,079 26,841 (40) 

 

PHX Energy’s Canadian revenue decreased by 26 percent to $32.3 million (2011 - $43.8 million) and operating days 

decreased by 24 percent to 2,829 days (2011 - 3,739 days).  In comparison, total industry horizontal and directional drilling 

activity, as measured by drilling days, was 28 percent lower in the 2012-quarter, 29,264 days, compared to the  

2011-quarter’s 40,601 days. (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin)  Average day rates decreased by 2 percent to $11,433 in the 2012-

quarter from $11,725 in the 2011-quarter.     

 

The Canadian industry’s drilling activity continued to be weak in the fourth quarter of 2012 and this created pressures on day 

rates and increased competition in the market.  Despite this overall retraction, horizontal and directional drilling continued to 

dominate Canadian industry activity and represented approximately 93 percent of total Canadian industry drilling days  

(2011 – 92 percent).  (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin)  In the 2012-quarter, PHX Energy focused its marketing efforts on the 

Montney, Duvernay, and deep basin plays where the Corporation’s experience level is rising and there is potential 

opportunities for expansion. The Corporation also remained active in the Viking, Cardium, Shaunavon, Bakken, and 

Frobisher areas. 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s Canadian revenue was $126.7 million, which is 12 percent lower 

than the $144.4 million generated in the 2011-year.  The number of horizontal and directional operating days realized in the 

Canadian industry during the 2012-year decreased by 15 percent to 118,066 days as compared to 139,359 days in 2011. 

(Source: Daily Oil Bulletin) In comparison, the Corporation’s Canadian drilling days decreased by 17 percent to 10,567 days 

in the 2012-year from 12,760 days in 2011. Oil well drilling activity (as measured by operating days) represented 

approximately 83 percent of PHX Energy’s Canadian activity for the year ended December 31, 2012 (2011 – 75 percent) with 

the remainder of activity primarily related to liquids rich natural gas.  
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The negative impact of slower industry activity on the Corporation’s revenue level in 2012 was partially alleviated by PHX 

Energy’s improved average day rates, which increased by 6 percent from $11,318 in 2011 to $11,991 in 2012.  Higher day 

rates were achieved as a result of greater demand for horizontal gamma jobs and the increased utilization of the 

Corporation’s RWD systems as well as other premium directional drilling technologies.   

 

Reportable segment profit before tax for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 decreased by 58 percent to  

$4.1 million from $9.7 million in the 2011-quarter.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, reportable segment profit before 

tax decreased by 40 percent to $16.1 million from $26.8 million in 2011.  The decreases in both 2012-periods were primarily 

due to lower levels of activity and higher infrastructure costs.    

 

Given the challenges in the Canadian market, PHX Energy is committed to implementing and growing initiatives that aim to 

provide its customers exceptional service and create drilling efficiencies. In late 2012, the Corporation aimed to increase the 

utilization of its Remote Access Directional Drilling (“RADD”) services, which focus on reducing operators’ costs by 

centralizing remote logging services. Additionally, PHX Energy is growing its Insight drilling optimization operations, whereby 

real-time solutions for improved drilling practices are provided by a team of technical experts. It is expected that both these 

initiatives will provide a positive impact on Canadian margins in 2013.  

 

 

United States 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Revenue 37,824 23,477 61  137,712 93,483 47 

Reportable segment profit before tax 4,243 268 n.m.  14,360 5,600 156 

n.m. – not meaningful 

 

PHX Energy’s US operations had a record fourth quarter.  For the three-month period ended December 31, 2012, US 

revenue of $37.8 million was generated compared to $23.5 million in the 2011-period; a 61 percent increase.  In the 

Corporation’s history, this level of revenue is second only to record results achieved in the third quarter of 2012.  The 

Corporation’s US operating days in the fourth quarter increased by 56 percent to 3,152 days from 2,015 days in the  

2011-quarter.  Average US day rates, excluding the motor rental division in Midland, Texas, increased by 4 percent to 

$11,557 in the 2012-quarter compared to $11,163 in the corresponding 2011-period.  This increase is attributable to the 

increased utilization of the Corporation’s value added technologies, such as its RWD technology.     
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In the fourth quarter of 2012, US industry activity, as measured by the average number of horizontal and directional rigs 

running on a daily basis, decreased by 6 percent to 1,302 rigs from 1,384 rigs in 2011. (Source: Baker Hughes)  Despite 

reduced rig utilization levels, the Corporation continued to realize substantial growth in its US operations.  Horizontal oil well 

drilling represented approximately 49 percent of Phoenix USA’s overall activity, as measured by drilling days, in the fourth 

quarter of 2012 as compared to 39 percent in the 2011-quarter.    

 

Phoenix USA achieved a remarkable year-over-year improvement in 2012, generating a record level of revenue,  

$137.7 million which is 47 percent higher than the $93.5 million reported in the 2011-year. Excluding the motor rental division 

in Midland, Texas, Phoenix USA achieved a 12 percent increase in its average day rates, which were $11,508 in 2012 as 

compared to $10,306 in 2011.  The Corporation’s US operating days also increased by 29 percent to 11,534 days in the 

2012-year compared to 8,961 days in 2011-year.  In comparison, US industry activity, as measured by the average number 

of horizontal and directional rigs running on a daily basis, increased by 5 percent to 1,367 rigs in 2012 compared to  

1,305 rigs in 2011. (Source: Baker Hughes)    

 

Intensified marketing efforts through the expansion of the marketing team in all US areas have made a positive impact on 

activity levels.  The Corporation realized substantial growth from its successful penetration in the Permian Basin, South 

Texas, and Mid-Continent markets, and during the year, Phoenix USA was active in the Wolf Camp, Barnett, Eagleford, 

Marcellus, Utica, Granite Wash, Mississippian Lime, Niobrara, and Bakken plays.    

 

With the success achieved by the motor rental division in Midland, Texas, additional marketing personnel are in place and 

the motor rental division is being expanded to the Mid-Continent area of the Gulf Coast region and the Rocky Mountain 

region.  The Corporation has also realized a greater demand for its RWD technology and expects to add 3 RWD systems in 

the US in early 2013.  PHX Energy foresees that these areas will further propel Phoenix USA’s growth. 

 

Reportable segment profit before tax for the three-month period ended December 31, 2012 increased to $4.2 million from 

$0.3 million in the 2011-period.   For the year ended December 31, 2012, reportable segment profit before tax increased to 

$14.4 million from $5.6 million in 2011.  The increase in profitability and improved margins in both periods was primarily due 

to higher activity and improved day rates.  
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International  
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011 % Change  2012  2011 % Change 

Revenue 9,305 6,287 48  37,296 22,164 68 

Reportable segment profit before tax 1,460 917 59  8,778 3,666 139 

 

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2012, international revenue increased by 48 percent to $9.3 million from 

$6.3 million in the 2011-period. International operating days increased by 56 percent from 456 days in the 2011-quarter to 

710 days in the 2012-quarter.  The Corporation generated 12 percent of its consolidated revenue from international 

operations in the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to 9 percent in 2011.   

 

During the 2012-year, PHX Energy’s international operations achieved significant growth, and generated record annual 

revenues and operating days.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, revenue increased by 68 percent to $37.3 million as 

compared to $22.2 million in 2011.  International operating days increased by 63 percent from 1,737 days in 2011 to  

2,830 days in 2012.   

 

Phoenix Albania remained the Corporation’s most active international area and continued to operate on 5 consecutive rigs 

for most of the 2012-quarter.  RMII’s EDR systems also continued to run on all 5 rigs.  Since commencing operations in 

2008, Phoenix Albania has successfully drilled in excess of 288 wells in the region.  In the fourth quarter of 2012, RWD 

services were successfully implemented in Albania and services were provided for a new client on a directional well, both of 

which contributed to increased revenues.  The Corporation is continuing to hire, train, and develop local Albanian staff, which 

is expected to create further efficiencies and at the same time, goodwill by supporting the local economy.  Currently,  

33 percent of the total number of employees in the country are Albanian nationals.  In 2013, PHX Energy will focus on 

exploring expansion opportunities for its Eastern European operations, while continuing to provide superior services to its 

current clients.  The Corporation presently has a 6 job capacity in Albania. 

  

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Corporation continued to realize strong activity levels in Russia, however, the quarterly 

results are less than forecasted due to rig maintenance schedules and unseasonably warm weather in Siberia that delayed 

the construction of ice roads.  It is anticipated that further growth will be achieved in 2013 as Phoenix Russia has already 

been awarded additional rigs by both an existing client and new clients in Siberia.  In addition, the Corporation has 

participated in numerous tender invitations for work to be executed in 2013 and is awaiting the award of these tenders.  This 

is a strong indication that Phoenix Russia has solidified its presence as a credible horizontal and directional drilling service 

provider in this strategic market.         
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In Colombia, the Corporation suffered low activity levels during the quarter, partially due to a key client’s inability to meet their 

license obligations.   Despite low activity levels, PHX Energy remains confident in this market and its ability to provide fit-for-

purpose services throughout the region.  PHX Energy’s operations in Colombia currently have a 5 job capacity. 

 

Peruvian industry activity continued to be weak in the fourth quarter of 2012, however, as a result of the outstanding service 

quality and cost savings delivered to a key client, Phoenix Peru has been invited to compete for additional work in 2013.   

It is believed that this opportunity will lead to modest growth in 2013.  Phoenix Peru currently has a job capacity of 4 full 

service jobs.   

 

In order to streamline operations in the South America, the Peruvian and Colombian management teams have been 

integrated into a single management team that will oversee activities in both locations.  This initiative is expected to create 

efficiencies by improving asset and personnel utilization, thereby enhancing overall profitability. 

 

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2012, reportable segment profit before tax was $1.5 million, an increase of 

59 percent compared to the $0.9 million in the corresponding 2011-period.  Reportable segment profit before tax for the year 

ended December 31, 2012 was $8.8 million as compared to $3.7 million in 2011; a 139 percent increase.  Strong activity 

levels in Albania and Russia were the main factors in the international segment’s improved profitability.  
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Liquidity  
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011  2012  2011 

Funds from operations 13,890 13,182  50,621 44,233 

Working capital as at December 31,     45,480 44,868 

 

Funds from operations increased from $13.2 million in the 2011-quarter to $13.9 million in the three-month period ended 

December 31, 2012.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, funds from operations increased to $50.6 million from  

$44.2 million in 2011.  The increase in funds from operations in both 2012 periods were mainly due to greater activity, higher 

non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization and lower non-cash gains such as gain on disposition of  

drilling equipment.     

 

As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation had working capital of $45.5 million, which was only $0.6 million higher than the 

$44.9 million reported at December 31, 2011.  In addition, the Corporation had approximately $29.1 million available to be 

drawn from its credit facilities as at December 31, 2012. 

 

 

Cash Flow and Dividends  
As a dividend paying corporation, PHX Energy typically declares monthly dividends to its shareholders.  The Corporation 

continually reviews its dividend rates, including on a quarterly basis, and takes into consideration its own financial 

performance, forecasted activity levels and the industry outlook. The actual amount of future monthly dividends is proposed 

by Management and is subject to the approval of the Board of Directors (the “Board”).  The Board reviews future dividends in 

conjunction with their review of quarterly financial and operating results. The Corporation's ability to maintain the current level 

of dividends to its shareholders is dependent upon the realization of cash flow from operations, and if the Corporation does 

not meet its budgeted cash flow from operations, dividends to shareholders may be reduced. Activity levels in the industry 

are seasonal, and as a result, cash flow will fluctuate. Despite these fluctuations, PHX Energy’s policy is to try to pay a 

consistent level of dividends throughout the year.  

 

For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2012, dividends of $5.1 million (2011 – $3.2 million) and  

$18.6 million (2011 – $12.5 million), respectively, were financed from the Corporation’s funds from operations.  
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Investing Activities  
 

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $64.7 million as compared to $35.4 million in 

2011. The Corporation made a $3.5 million investment in the joint venture company RMII, a $2.6 million investment in shares 

of its joint venture partner RMS, and added a record $51.5 million in capital equipment in 2012 (2011 - $49.3 million).  

The 2012 capital expenditures included: 

 $29.8 million in down hole performance drilling motors; 

 $13.0 million in MWD systems and spare components; 

 $5.1 million in non-magnetic drill collars and jars; 

 $1.0 million in machinery and equipment for global service centres; and 

 $2.6 million in other assets, including vehicles of $0.9 million and software of $0.8 million. 

The capital expenditure program undertaken in the year was financed from a combination of cash flow from operations, long-

term debt and working capital.  

 

The Corporation realized proceeds from the involuntary disposal of drilling equipment in well bores of $9.0 million in 2012, as 

compared to $9.4 million in 2011. The change in non-cash working capital balances of $16.2 million (use of cash) for the 

year ended December 31, 2012 relates to $6.8 million of net change in the Corporation’s trade payables that are associated 

with the acquisition of capital assets and $9.4 million of land and progress billings associated with an operations centre under 

construction that is currently being held for sale. This compares to $4.4 million (source of cash) for the year ended  

December 31, 2011.  
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Capital Expenditures 
(In millions of dollars) 

 

 

 

PHX Energy has undertaken significant annual capital asset expansion programs since 2008 in line with increases in its 

activity levels, with the exception of the drop in the 2009-year related to poor industry conditions and activity in that year.  

 

 

 

Financing Activities  
 

The Corporation reported cash flows from financing activities of $27.6 million in 2012 as compared to $11.9 million in 2011. 

In the 2012-year: 

 the Corporation paid dividends of $18.6 million to shareholders, or $0.66 per share; 

 through its option and DRIP programs the Corporation received cash proceeds of $1.3 million to acquire 

150,309 common shares of the Corporation; and 

 the Corporation received net proceeds from its operating facility and syndicated facility of an aggregate of 

$44.9 million to finance its capital expenditures program and the construction of the new operations centre.  

 

 

 

 $14.6  

 $33.9  

 $15.1  

 $48.4   $49.3  
 $51.5  

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012



PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2012 Annual Report 

 

 

 

-26- 

Capital Resources  
 

On September 6, 2012, the Corporation entered into a new syndicated loan agreement with its bank.  Under the new 

agreement, the Corporation has access to a $10 million operating facility.  The facility bears interest based primarily on the 

Corporation’s senior debt to EBITDA ratio, as defined in the agreement.  At the Corporation’s option, interest is at the bank’s 

prime rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 0.75 percent to a maximum of 2 percent, or the bank’s bankers’ 

acceptance rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 1.75 percent to a maximum of 3 percent.  As of December 31, 

2012, the Corporation had $5.9 million drawn on this facility. 

 

Under the new syndicated loan agreement, the Corporation also has access to a $95 million syndicated facility and a US$25 

million operating facility in the US.  The facilities bear interest at the same rates disclosed above.  The syndicated facility will 

permanently reduce to $80 million on September 30, 2013, which coincides with the expected sale and leaseback of the new 

operations centre.  The remaining $80 million syndicated facility and the US operating facility mature on September 6, 2015.  

The maturity date can be extended for another year at the option of the lender.  As at December 31, 2012, $95 million was 

drawn on the syndicated facility, of which $15 million was classified as current, and nil was drawn on the US  

operating facility.   

 

All credit facilities are secured by a general security agreement over all assets of the Corporation located in Canada and the 

US.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation was in compliance with all of its bank debt covenants. 

 

 

 

Cash Requirements for Capital Expenditures  
 

Historically, the Corporation has financed its capital expenditures and acquisitions through cash flows from operating 

activities, debt and equity. The 2013 capital budget has been set at $30.4 million subject to quarterly review of the Board of 

Directors.  These planned expenditures are expected to be financed from a combination of one or more of the following, cash 

flow from operations, the Corporation’s unused credit facilities or equity, if necessary. However, if a sustained period of 

market uncertainty and financial market volatility persists in 2013, the Corporation's activity levels, cash flows and access to 

credit may be negatively impacted, and the expenditure level would be reduced accordingly. Conversely, if future growth 

opportunities present themselves, the Corporation would look at expanding this planned capital expenditure amount.  
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 

The Corporation had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2012 and 2011.  

 

 

 

Proposed Transactions  
 

The Corporation reviews and evaluates any material business acquisitions or capital asset divestitures in the normal course 

of its operations.  In 2013, the Corporation has budgeted to spend $30.4 million in capital equipment acquisitions.  

 

 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation are prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The Corporation’s 

significant accounting policies are described in its annual audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2012.  Management, in preparing these financial statements, is required to make estimates and judgments 

that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  These estimates and judgments are based 

upon assumptions that are considered reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from such estimates 

and judgments by a material amount.   

 

Accounts where assumptions and estimation uncertainties have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within 

the next financial year are valuation of accounts receivable, goodwill, deferred income taxes, measurement of equity-settled 

share based transactions, and depreciation.  

 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognized in the consolidated financial statements are deferred income taxes because the Corporation operates in foreign 

jurisdictions where regulations are complex and different from Canada. 
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Future Changes in Accounting Policies  
 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 

January 1, 2013, and have not been applied in preparing the consolidated annual financial statements.  Those which may be 

relevant to the Corporation are set out below.  The Corporation does not plan to adopt these standards early. 

 

a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010),  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009) 
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets.  Under IFRS 9 

(2009), financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the 

characteristics of their contractual cash flows.  IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial liabilities.  The 

International Accounting Standards Board currently has an active project to make limited amendments to the 

classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of 

financial assets and hedge accounting. 

 

IFRS 9 (2010 and 2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 with early adoption 

permitted.  The adoption of IFRS 9 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial assets and 

financial liabilities. 

 

 

b) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,  

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements,  

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (2011) 
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated.  The adoption of 

IFRS 10 is not expected to change the Corporation’s consolidation conclusion in respect to its investees. 

 

Under IFRS 11, the structure of the joint arrangement, although still an important consideration, is no longer the main 

factor in determining the type of joint arrangement and therefore the subsequent accounting.  The Corporation’s interest 

in a joint operation, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the assets and obligations for the 

liabilities, will be accounted for on the basis of the Corporation’s interest in those assets and liabilities.  The 

Corporation’s interest in a joint venture, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the net assets, will 

be equity-accounted. The Corporation has determined that the adoption of this standard may result in the 

reclassification of its joint arrangement but it may not result in a change to the current accounting for this interest. 
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IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements about an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, 

joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities.  The Corporation is currently assessing the 

disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, interests in joint arrangements and associates in comparison with 

the existing disclosures. IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of information about the nature, risks and financial effects of 

these interests. 

 

These standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. 

 

c) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  
IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, and replaces the fair value measurement 

guidance that is currently dispersed throughout IFRS.  Subject to limited exceptions, IFRS 13 is applied when fair value 

measurements or disclosures are required or permitted by other IFRS.  The Corporation is currently evaluating the 

impact of the adoption of IFRS 13 to its fair value disclosures.  IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. 

 

 

 

Financial Instruments  
 

Credit Risk        
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 

development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline in 

economic conditions, which would impair the customers’ ability to satisfy their obligations to the Corporation. During the year 

ended December 31, 2012, one customer comprised 8 percent of the total revenue. All accounts receivable balances 

outstanding over 120 days represent 7 percent or approximately $4.5 million of total receivables on the balance sheet at 

December 31, 2012.  Management has provided an allowance of $0.4 million for all amounts it considers uncollectable at 

December 31, 2012. 

 

The Corporation has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk, which consists of conducting financial and 

other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Corporation monitors and manages its credit 

risk on an ongoing basis. 
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Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation 

has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure 

that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. Management typically forecasts cash 

flows for a period of twelve-months to identify financing requirements. These requirements are then addressed through a 

combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets.  The Corporation believes that future cash flows 

generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity through capital and banking markets will be adequate to meet 

its financial obligations. 

 
The following table reflects the Corporation’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to continuing operations 

as at December 31, 2012: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Operating facility 5,898 - - - - 

Loans and borrowings 15,000 - 80,000 - - 

Operating leases 3,198 2,154 1,894 1,540 1,376 

New operations centre commitment 8,963 - - - - 

Trade and other payables  38,165 - - - - 

Dividends payable 1,626 - - - - 

Total  72,850 2,154 81,894 1,540 1,376 

 

As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation had purchase commitments for $7.0 million in drilling and other equipment.  

 

 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The Corporation has designated its accounts payable and dividends payable as other financial liabilities carried at amortized 

cost. Accounts receivable are designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized cost. The Corporation’s carrying 

values of these items approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the instruments. Loans and 

borrowings have been designated as an other financial liability, and it is measured at amortized cost. The fair value of loans 

and borrowings included in the consolidated balance sheet approximates fair values as the indebtedness is subject to 

floating rates of interest. 
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Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in the market  

interest rates. The Corporation has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest  

payment amounts.  

 

A one percent change in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s profit by $773,000. 

 

 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates. Due to operations of the Corporation’s subsidiaries in the US, Russia, Peru, Albania and Colombia, the 

Corporation has an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. The carrying values of US dollar, Russian rouble, Peruvian 

soles, Albanian lek, and Colombian peso denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings are subject to foreign 

exchange risk.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, foreign exchange losses of $1.3 million resulted mainly from 

fluctuations in the LEK-CDN and RUR-CDN exchange rates.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s exposure  

to foreign currency risk is primarily in the US.  The Corporation will examine options with respect to managing foreign  

exchange risk. 

 

The following chart represents the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk in the US: 

 

  USD  USD 

As at December 31,  2012  2011 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,131,991 $ 3,926,658 

Trade and other receivables  34,888,459  17,048,631 

Trade and other payables   (11,656,660)  (8,875,253) 

Current tax assets   51,313  262,500 

Statement of financial position exposure $ 24,415,103 $ 12,362,536 

 

The following exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31: 

 

 Average Rate  December 31 Close Rate 

 2012 2011  2012 2011 

USD 0.9996 0.9893  0.9949 1.0170 

 

A 10 percent weakening of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar at December 31, 2012 would have increased the 

Corporation’s equity by $1.5 million and increased net earnings by $0.3 million respectively. This analysis assumes that all 

other variables remain constant at December 31, 2012.  
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Business Risk Factors  
 

The Corporation’s operations are subject to certain factors that are beyond its control. A significant portion of the 

Corporation’s operating costs are variable in nature, and as a result, the impact of a significant decline in demand for the 

Corporation’s services on its financial results is lessened. Management has identified herein certain key risks and 

uncertainties associated with PHX Energy’s business that could impact financial results. They include, but are not limited to: 

 

 

Capital Requirements 
The Corporation’s revenues may decline because of a decrease in activity levels, and it may be required to reduce its 

planned capital expenditures. In addition, uncertain levels of near-term industry activity coupled with the uncertain global 

economy exposes the Corporation to additional capital risk.  There can be no assurance that debt or equity financing, or 

cash generated by operations will be available, or sufficient, to meet these capital expenditure requirements or for other 

corporate purposes, or if debt or equity financing is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Corporation.  The 

inability of the Corporation to access sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse effect on the 

Corporation's business financial condition, results of operations and prospects and therefore on dividends which may be 

declared to shareholders. 

 

 

Credit Risk  
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 

development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline in 

economic conditions, which would impair the customer’s ability to satisfy their obligations to the Corporation.     

 

 

Environmental Risks  
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to environmental 

regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations. Compliance with such legislation can 

require significant expenditures and a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which may be 

material. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger 

fines and liability, and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs. Implementation of strategies for 

reducing greenhouse gases could have a material impact on the nature of oil and natural gas operations, including those of 

the Corporation and the Corporation’s customers. Given the evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and the 

control of greenhouse gases and the possible resulting requirements, it is not possible to predict either the nature of those 

requirements or the impact on the Corporation and its operations and financial condition.   
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Employees  
The success of the Corporation will be dependent upon key personnel. Loss of the services from such persons could have a 

material adverse effect on the business and operations of the Corporation. The ability of the Corporation to expand its 

services is dependent upon its ability to attract additional qualified employees.  

 

 

Access to Equipment and Development of New Technology  
The ability of the Corporation to compete and expand is dependent upon it having access to certain drilling equipment and 

components at a reasonable cost, and upon its ability to develop or acquire new competitive technology. The Corporation 

purchases equipment from various suppliers in the oil and natural gas drilling service industry. There can be no assurance 

that these sources for equipment will be maintained. If such equipment is not available, and is not available from any other 

source, the Corporation’s ability to compete may be impaired.  

 

 

Competition  
The Corporation’s major competitors are principally large multinational companies with significantly greater resources 

available for marketing and R&D programs. The Corporation also competes with a number of other small and medium sized 

companies. Like the Corporation, these companies have certain competitive advantages, such as low overhead costs and 

specialized regional strengths. The Corporation’s ability to generate revenue depends on its ability to obtain contracts and to 

perform services within projected times and costs.  

 

 

Oil and Natural Gas Industry Risk  
There are risks associated with the provision of drilling services to the oil and natural gas industry. The Corporation may 

become liable for risks against which it may choose not to insure due to high premium costs, or which may exceed the limits of 

policy coverage. Interruptions and delays caused by adverse weather conditions, equipment failures or other events can 

significantly adversely affect revenue. While the Corporation will maintain liability insurance, the insurance is subject to 

coverage limits. There can be no assurance that insurance will continue to be available to the Corporation on commercially 

reasonable terms, that the possible types of liabilities that may be incurred by the Corporation will be covered by its insurance, 

or that the dollar amount of such liabilities will not exceed policy limits. Even a partially uninsured claim, if successful and of 

sufficient magnitude, could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and prospects.  
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Seasonality  
In general, the level of activity of the Canadian and certain parts of the US and international oilfield service industry is 

influenced by seasonable weather patterns. Wet weather and the spring thaw may make the ground unstable. Consequently, 

municipalities and provincial or state transportation departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and 

other heavy equipment, thereby reducing activity levels. Additionally, certain oil and natural gas producing areas are located 

in areas that are inaccessible, except during winter months, because the ground surrounding or containing the drilling sites in 

these areas consists of swampy terrain known as muskeg.  

 

 

Foreign Operations  
The Corporation will conduct a certain portion of its business in the US, Albania, Peru, Russia, and Colombia. Any change in 

government policies could have a significant impact on business. Risks of foreign operations include, but are not necessarily 

limited to changes of laws affecting foreign ownership, government participation, taxation, royalties, duties, rates of 

exchange, inflation, exchange control, and repatriation of earnings. There are no assurances that the economic and political 

conditions in the countries in which the Corporation operates will continue as they are at the present time. The effect and 

impact of these factors cannot be accurately predicted.  

 

In addition, the Corporation is subject to the various additional risk factors described in the Corporation’s Annual Information 

Form, a copy of which can be found under the Corporation’s profile at www.sedar.com.  

 

 

 

Corporate Governance  
 

This MD&A has been prepared by the Management of PHX Energy and it has been reviewed and approved by the Audit 

Committee and the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Additional information relating to the Corporation’s Corporate 

Governance can be found in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form and Information Circular in respect of its annual 

meeting of Shareholders, each of which are annually filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
 

The Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their 

supervision, disclosure controls and procedures.  Such officers have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their 

supervision, the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures at the financial year end of the Corporation and have 

concluded that the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective, at the financial year end of the 

Corporation, to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to the Corporation is made known to the 

Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others, particularly during the period in which the annual 

and interim filings are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Corporation in its annual filings, 

interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and 

reported within the time period specified in securities legislation. 

 

 

 

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  
 

The Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their 

supervision, internal controls over financial reporting related to the Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries. Such 

officers have also evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the Corporation’s 

internal controls over financial reporting at the financial year end of the Corporation, and have concluded that such internal 

controls over financial reporting are effective, at the financial year end of the Corporation, to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability of the Corporation’s financial reporting and preparation of financial statements together with other 

financial information for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 

 

The Corporation is required to disclose herein any change in the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting that 

occurred during the period beginning on October 1, 2012 and ending on December 31, 2012 that has materially affected, or 

is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting.  No material changes in 

the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting were identified during such period that has materially affected, or 

are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting. 

 

It should be noted that a control system, including the Corporation’s disclosure and internal controls and procedures, no 

matter how well conceived, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control 

system will be met and it should not be expected that the disclosure and internal controls and procedures will prevent all 

errors or fraud.  
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Outstanding Corporation Share Data  
 

(In thousands of shares)  As at February 27, 2013 

Common shares outstanding   28,265,092 

Dilutive securities:   

    Options 2,604,319 

Corporation shares – diluted 30,869,411 

 

 

 

Selected Annual Financial Information  
 

The following selected annual financial information was obtained from the audited consolidated financial statements 

prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts)    

Years ended December 31, 2012 2011 2010 

Revenue 301,720 260,063 197,277 

Net earnings 17,707 18,328 14,162 

Earnings per share – basic 0.63 0.66 0.53 

Earnings per share – diluted 0.63 0.65 0.52 

Long-term debt 80,000 56,000 36,000 

Total assets 264,523 220,201 176,569 

 

In 2012, PHX Energy realized record activity levels in its US and international operations, and as a result the Corporation’s 

revenue increased by 16 percent over that of 2011. Revenue also increased by 32 percent from 2010 to 2011 due to record 

activity levels in all of its operating areas. 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, PHX Energy’s net earnings decreased by 3 percent as compared to the 2011-year. 

This is mainly due to lower Canadian activity and higher depreciation expense as a result of record capital expenditures 

incurred in 2011 and 2012.  Net earnings increased by 29 percent from 2010 to 2011 due to the higher activity levels and 

profitability.    

 

The increase in long-term debt in the 2012-year was used to finance capital expenditures made in the year; $51.5 million.  

 

PHX Energy’s total assets have increased steadily up to December 31, 2012 reaching $264.5 million as a result of increased 

activity, profitable operations and capital expenditure expansion.   
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Summary of Quarterly Results 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts) 

 Dec-12 Sept-12 Jun-12 Mar-12 Dec-11 Sept-11 Jun-11 Mar-11 

Revenue  79,473 84,054 58,423 79,769 73,606 77,973 45,336 63,147 

Net earnings (loss) 4,537 7,836 (2,584) 7,918 5,284 8,737 424 3,883 

Earnings (Loss) per share – basic  0.16 0.28 (0.09) 0.28 0.19 0.31 0.01 0.14 

Earnings (Loss) per share – diluted  0.16 0.28 (0.09) 0.28 0.19 0.31 0.01 0.14 

 

Activity levels in western Canada vary considerably due to seasonal weather patterns. Traditionally, the first quarter of the 

calendar year is the most active for service companies due to cold weather, however, due to favorable commodity price 

levels in the latter part of the past two years the third and fourth quarters have been very active.  The ability to move heavy 

equipment in the Canadian oil and natural gas fields is dependent on weather conditions. As warm weather returns in the 

spring, the winter’s frost comes out of the ground rendering many secondary roads incapable of supporting the weight of 

heavy equipment until they have thoroughly dried out. The duration of this “spring break-up” has a direct impact on the 

Corporation’s activity levels. As a result, late March through May is traditionally the Corporation’s slowest time, as such, the 

operating results of the Corporation vary on a quarterly basis. The Corporation’s activity levels in the US and international 

regions are not impacted at the same level during this Canadian spring break-up period. 
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Outlook  
 

In 2012, PHX Energy navigated through various challenges and through all this is proud of its people and the 

accomplishments achieved.  Amongst a year of mixed opportunities and challenges, PHX Energy again executed 

operationally and reported record revenue, operating days and EBITDA. 

 

North American industry and commodity price trends in 2012 reinforced the importance of diversification.  While oil prices 

appeared robust, the differential that applied due to market constraints vastly widened in Canada and created a large short 

fall in producers’ cash flow that reduced some drilling budgets. In addition, the expected recovery of natural gas prices was 

short lived and therefore activity levels remained depressed in certain areas due to unfavorable economics. As a result  

of these factors, Canadian industry activity decreased when compared to the prior year and US industry activity was 

relatively flat.   

 

Canada relies heavily on US demand for oil and natural gas commodities and it is this reliance that has led to the current 

Canadian market conditions.  In 2012, this was apparent in the challenges that resulted from the oil price differentials and 

low natural gas prices, one of which was the capital markets remaining predominately closed for many exploration and 

production companies whose budgets depend on the ability to raise capital.  In a year with reduced drilling activity, PHX 

Energy’s Canadian operations performed well and this can be attributed to the diverse client base that has been established 

as a result of proven performance in Western Canada. The Canadian industry in 2013 will likely continue at the same  

pace as 2012, and PHX Energy believes it will maintain a healthy share of activity with its knowledge of drilling operations  

in key basins.   

 

Given the forecasted challenges for Canada in 2012 and PHX Energy’s strong penetration in this market, a strategic 

objective was to strengthen and grow US operations. The US market, with its large rig count, presented greater opportunities 

during the year and PHX Energy established new operating areas to service the key basins that were emerging.  Primarily 

due to increased activity in the Gulf Coast region that was driven by a dedicated team of key personnel, the Corporation 

delivered on this objective and US operations reported results that exceed expectations.  For 2013, it is anticipated that the 

US will continue to be a strong growth area for PHX Energy, as the momentum in the Gulf Coast region creates further gains 

in market share, the Rocky Mountain region becomes more active in the year and with the industry rig count in the Northeast 

region beginning to show slight increases in early 2013.   
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Another key strategy in the past year was to focus resources on the Corporation’s international segments to eliminate losses 

in areas that were not profitable and to strive to grow in areas where activity levels were favorable. By implementing 

initiatives that were targeted to each area, many of the metrics set at the start of 2012 were achieved and at year end, 

international operations represented 12 percent of consolidated revenue and profitability improved. In addition, through some 

of the strategies deployed the structure is now in place for expansion in the present markets where opportunity exists, and 

PHX Energy believes going forward growth in these areas will be realized.  

 

In 2012, PHX Energy also expanded the deployment of value added technologies in North America and internationally, such 

as its RWD services.  In a year where day rates were flat for a traditional service package, the additional revenue stream 

created by these technologies aided in revenue growth along with the record number of operating days achieved.  A focus 

going forward will be to continue to expand the fleet of these tools, as they give PHX Energy a competitive advantage in 

many markets and offer clients operational benefits. 

 

PHX Energy foresees the future potential for a game changing shift in the North American industry related to projects 

focused on exporting natural gas outside of North America.  In addition, it is anticipated that international operators will begin 

to deploy the techniques and technologies that created the shale revolution in North America.  These paradigm shifts will 

bode well for the Corporation, however, it is not likely they will take hold in the near term. As such, in 2013 PHX Energy will 

continue to leverage its diverse operational footprint and high service level to continually reward shareholders. Additionally, 

PHX Energy will keep a watchful eye on the industry trends and ensure it is equipped to be at the forefront when the shift 

begins to take hold. 

 

 

John Hooks,    

Chairman of the Board 

President and Chief Executive Officer  
February 27, 2013  
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Non-GAAP Measures 
 

1) EBITDA  
 

EBITDA, defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, is not a financial measure that is 

recognized under GAAP. However, Management believes that EBITDA provides supplemental information to net earnings 

that is useful in evaluating the Corporation’s operations before considering how it was financed or taxed in various countries. 

Investors should be cautioned, however, that EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative measure to net earnings 

determined in accordance with GAAP.  PHX Energy’s method of calculating EBITDA may differ from that of other 

organizations and, accordingly, its EBITDA may not be comparable to that of other companies. 

 

The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to EBITDA: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31,  Years ended December 31, 

 2012 2011  2012  2011 

Net earnings 4,537 5,284  17,707 18,328 

Add:      

Depreciation and amortization 5,800 4,447  21,336 16,171 

Provision for income taxes 2,147 3,189  6,561 8,411 

Finance expense 1,091 646  3,233 2,097 

EBITDA as reported 13,575 13,566  48,837 45,007 

  

EBITDA per share - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the exercise of the 

share options are used to reacquire common shares at an average share price. The calculation of EBITDA per share on a 

dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options. 
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2) Funds from Operations 
 

Funds from operations is defined as cash flows generated from operating activities before changes in non-cash working 

capital. This is not a measure recognized under GAAP. Management uses funds from operations as an indication of the 

Corporation’s ability to generate funds from its operations before considering changes in working capital balances. Investors 

should be cautioned, however, that this financial measure should not be construed as an alternative measure to cash flows 

from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP. PHX Energy’s method of calculating funds from Operations 

may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, it may not be comparable to that of other companies.  

 

The following is a reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to funds from operations: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31,  Years ended December 31, 

 2012  2011  2012  2011 

Cash flows from operating activities  13,748 19,376  33,070 23,224 

Add (deduct):      

Changes in non-cash working capital (1,285) (6,933)  13,054 18,437 

Interest paid 866 687  2,863 1,884 

Income taxes paid 561 52  1,634 688 

Funds from operations 13,890 13,182  50,621 44,233 

 

Funds from operations per share - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the 

exercise of the share options are used to reacquire common shares at an average share price. The calculation of funds from 

operations per share on a dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options.  
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Management’s Report to the Shareholders  
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of 

Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

by Management in accordance with the accounting policies in the notes to financial statements. When necessary, 

Management has made informed judgments and estimates in accounting for transactions which were not complete at the 

date of the statement of financial position. In the opinion of Management, the financial statements have been prepared within 

acceptable limits of materiality and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) appropriate 

in the circumstances. The financial information elsewhere in the Annual Report has been reviewed to ensure consistency 

with that in the consolidated financial statements.  

 

Management has prepared Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”). The MD&A is based upon the Corporation’s 

financial results prepared in accordance with IFRS. The MD&A compares the audited financial results for the twelve-months 

ended December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2011.  

 

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control. Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable 

assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use, and financial 

records properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.  

 

KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, was engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Canada and provide an independent professional opinion.  

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that Management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and 

internal controls. It exercises its responsibilities mainly through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee of the Board of 

Directors of PHX Energy Services Corp., is comprised of three independent Directors, and has reviewed and discussed the 

consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, with Management and external Auditors. The consolidated 

financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Audit Committee.  

 

      

John Hooks      Cameron Ritchie, CA  

Chairman of the Board,     Senior Vice President Finance  

President and Chief Executive Officer    Chief Financial Officer  

 

February 27, 2013 
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PHX Energy Services Corp., which comprise the consolidated 

statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 

equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.  

 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

Auditors’ responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.  

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to 

the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

 

Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of PHX 

Energy Services Corp. as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 

the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

Yours very truly, 

 

Chartered Accountants  

Calgary, Canada        

February 27, 2013 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 

 
Note  December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

ASSETS   
 

    

Current assets:   
 

    

    Cash and cash equivalents    $ 4,329,969  $ 8,376,344 

 

Trade and other receivables   
 

67,189,884   63,209,860 

    Inventories 5  
 

21,833,051   15,445,543 

    Prepaid expenses   
 

3,476,559   3,720,607 

    Assets held for sale 6  
 

9,436,462   - 

  Total current assets   
 

106,265,925   90,752,354 

Non-current assets:   
 

    

 

Drilling and other equipment 7  
 

144,370,109   120,572,230 

 

Goodwill 8  
 

8,876,351   8,876,351 

 Equity-accounted investees 9   5,010,292   - 

 

Total non-current assets    158,256,752   129,448,581 

 
  

 
    

Total assets   $ 264,522,677  $ 220,200,935 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   
 

    

Current liabilities:   
 

    

 

Operating facility 10  $ 5,897,711  $ - 

 

Trade and other payables   
 

38,165,118   44,538,854 

 

Dividends payable  12(d)  
 

1,626,287   1,064,592 

 Current tax liabilities    97,020   280,981 

 Loans and borrowings 10   15,000,000   - 

  Total current liabilities   
 

60,786,136   45,884,427 

Non-current liabilities:   
 

    

 

Loans and borrowings  10  
 

80,000,000   56,000,000 

 Deferred tax liabilities 11   8,641,858   4,448,999 

  Total non-current liabilities    88,641,858   60,448,999 

Equity:   
 

    

 

Share capital  12(a)  
 

99,101,118   97,583,055 

 

Contributed surplus    
 

7,860,658   5,827,955 

 

Retained earnings   
 

9,764,748   11,461,288 

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income    
 

(1,631,841)   (803,517) 

  Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Corporation    115,094,683   114,068,781 

  Non-controlling interests   
 

-   (201,272) 

 

Total equity    115,094,683   113,867,509 

  
  

 
    

Total liabilities and equity   $ 264,522,677  $ 220,200,935 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 

Years ended December 31, Note   2012   2011 

Revenue   $ 301,719,813  $ 260,063,371 

Direct costs      238,167,915   201,250,946 

Gross profit     63,551,898    58,812,425 

Expenses:         

Selling, general and administrative expenses 14    34,466,938   31,618,058 

Research and development expenses     1,985,404   2,123,544 

Finance expense     3,232,978   2,096,702 

Other income 17    (954,849)   (3,765,395) 

  
    38,730,471   32,072,909 

Share of loss of equity-accounted        
 investees (net of tax)  9   552,931   - 

  
        

Earnings before income taxes     24,268,496    26,739,516 

Provision for income taxes:         

Current 18    1,579,789   1,260,940 

Deferred 18    4,981,679    7,150,330 

        6,561,468   8,411,270 

Net earnings    17,707,028   18,328,246 

Other comprehensive income:         

 
Foreign currency translation     (873,637)   (93,020) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   $ 16,833,391  $ 18,235,226 

Earnings attributable to:         

 
Equity holders of the Corporation    $ 17,707,028  $ 18,413,357 

 
Non-controlling interests     -    (85,111) 

Net earnings   $ 17,707,028  $ 18,328,246 

Comprehensive income attributable to:         

 
Equity holders of the Corporation    $ 16,833,391  $ 18,297,167 

 
Non-controlling interests     -   (61,941) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   $ 16,833,391  $ 18,235,226 

Earnings per share – basic 12(c)  $ 0.63  $ 0.66 

Earnings per share – diluted 12(c)  $ 0.63  $ 0.65 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
 

      Attributable to Equity Holders of the Corporation   

Year Ended 
December 31, 2012 

Share Capital  Contributed 
Surplus 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

Retained 
Earnings 

 Total Equity 
Attributable to 

Equity 
Holders 

Non-
Controlling 

Interests Total Equity Number Amount ($) 

                    

Balance, December 31, 2011 28,091,062 $ 97,583,055 $ 5,827,955 $ (803,517) $ 11,461,288 $ 114,068,781 $ (201,272) $ 113,867,509 

                 

Issuance of share capital  150,309  1,286,060  -  -  -  1,286,060  -  1,286,060 

 
               

Share-based payments  -  -  2,264,706  -  -  2,264,706  -  2,264,706 

                 

Fair value of option exercised -  232,003  (232,003)  -  -  -  -  - 

 
               

Net earnings -  -  -  -  17,707,028  17,707,028  -  17,707,028 

                 

Foreign currency adjustment -  -  -  (873,637)  -  (873,637)  -  (873,637) 

                 

Dividends -  -  -  -  (19,156,983)  (19,156,983)  -  (19,156,983) 

                 
Acquisition of  
     non-controlling interests -  -  -  45,313  (246,585)  (201,272)  201,272  - 

                

Balance, December 31, 2012 28,241,371 $ 99,101,118 $ 7,860,658 $ (1,631,841) $ 9,764,748 $ 115,094,683 $ - $ 115,094,683 

 

      Attributable to Equity Holders of the Corporation   

Year Ended 
December 31, 2011 

Share Capital  Contributed 
Surplus 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

Retained 
Earnings 

 Total Equity 
Attributable to 

Equity 
Holders 

Non-
Controlling 

Interests Total Equity Number Amount ($) 

                    

Balance, December 31, 2010 27,539,373 $ 90,876,458 $ 5,156,078 $ (733,736) $ 6,515,269 $ 101,814,069 $ (184,852) $ 101,629,217 

                 

Issuance of share capital  551,689  4,407,921  -  -  -  4,407,921  -  4,407,921 

 
               

Share-based payments  -  -  2,970,553  -  -  2,970,553  -  2,970,553 

                 

Fair value of option exercised -  2,298,676  (2,298,676)  -  -  -  -  - 

 
               

Net earnings -  -  -  -  18,413,357  18,413,357  (85,111)  18,328,246 

                 

Foreign currency adjustment -  -  -  1,926  -  1,926  (94,946)  (93,020) 

                 

Dividends -  -  -  -  (13,375,408)  (13,375,408)  -  (13,375,408) 

                 
Acquisition of  
     non-controlling  interests -  -  -  (71,707)  (91,930)  (163,637)  163,637  - 

                

Balance, December 31, 2011 28,091,062 $ 97,583,055 $ 5,827,955 $ (803,517) $ 11,461,288 $ 114,068,781 $ (201,272) $ 113,867,509 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

Years ended December 31, Note   2012   2011 

Cash flows from operating activities:        

Net earnings   $ 17,707,028  $ 18,328,246 

Adjustments for:          

Depreciation and amortization 7    21,335,874    16,171,041 

Provision for income taxes 18    6,561,468    8,411,270 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss     1,188,443   1,396,940 

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment 17    (2,727,295)    (5,588,728) 

Share-based payments 13(a)    2,264,706    2,970,553 

Finance expense    3,232,978   2,096,702 

Provision for bad debts     15,059    446,521 

Change in fair value of investment in equity        

     securities 9   490,245   - 

Share of loss of equity-accounted investees 9   552,931   - 

Change in non-cash working capital     (13,053,739)    (18,437,087) 

Cash generated from operating activities    37,567,698   25,795,458 

Interest paid    (2,863,421)   (1,883,712) 

Income taxes paid    (1,633,970)   (687,729) 

Net cash from operating activities    33,070,307   23,224,017 

Cash flows from investing activities:          

Proceeds on disposition of drilling equipment     9,039,942    9,445,520 

Acquisition of drilling and other equipment 7    (51,452,063)    (49,279,614) 

Investment in equity-accounted investees    (6,053,468)   - 

Change in non-cash working capital     (16,239,576)    4,426,676 

Net cash used in investing activities     (64,705,165)    (35,407,418) 

Cash flows from financing activities:          

Proceeds from issuance of share capital     1,286,060    4,407,921 

Dividends paid to shareholders 12(d)    (18,595,288)    (12,473,708) 

Proceeds on loans and borrowings 10    39,000,000    20,000,000 

Proceeds on operating facility 10    5,897,711    - 

Net cash from financing activities     27,588,483    11,934,213 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents      (4,046,375)    (249,188) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     8,376,344   8,625,532 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 4,329,969  $ 8,376,344 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
In Canadian dollars 
 

 1. Reporting Entity: 
 

PHX Energy is a publicly-traded Corporation listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “PHX”. 

 
The Corporation, through its subsidiaries, provides horizontal and directional drilling services to oil and natural gas 

exploration and development companies in Canada, United States, Albania, Peru, Russia, and Colombia.  The 

Corporation also manufactures technology for internal use. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and the Corporation’s 

interest in an associate and a jointly controlled entity.  

 

 

 

 2. Basis of Preparation: 
 

a) Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”).  

 

The consolidated financial statements were authorized by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2013. 

 

 

b) Basis of Measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and using the historical cost 

basis except for liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements which are measured at fair value 

and included in trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 

 

 

  



Consolidated Financial Statements & Notes 

 

 

 

-49- 

c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s  

functional currency.  

 

 

d) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

Accounts where assumptions and estimation uncertainties could have a significant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment within the next financial years are valuation of accounts receivable, goodwill, deferred income taxes, 

measurement of equity-settled share-based transactions, and depreciation. 

 

 

e) Critical Judgments 
Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are deferred income taxes because the Corporation 

operates in foreign jurisdictions where regulations are complex and different from Canada. 
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 3. Significant Accounting Policies: 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

 

a) Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, 

which are entities controlled by the Corporation.  Control exists when the Corporation has the power, directly or 

indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities.  The 

results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as 

appropriate.  Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance. Non-controlling interests in the equity of the Corporation’s subsidiaries 

are identified separately in shareholders’ equity.  

 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  Transactions with non-controlling 

interests are treated as transactions with equity owners of the Corporation. For purchases from non-controlling 

interests, the difference between the consideration paid and the share of the carrying value of net assets acquired 

is recorded in equity.   

 

i. Business Combinations 

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date.  The Corporation 

measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognized amount of any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree, less the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. When the excess is negative, a bargain 

purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.  

 

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Corporation 

incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.  
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ii. Investments in Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities (Equity-Accounted Investees)  

Associates are those entities in which the Corporation has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over 

the financial and operating policies.  Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Corporation holds between 

20 percent and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. 

 

Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the Corporation has joint control, established by 

contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. 

 

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method and are 

recognized initially at cost.  The cost of the investment includes transaction costs. 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the Corporation’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of  

the Corporation, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that joint  

control ceases. 

 

When the Corporation’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount 

of the investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of 

further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Corporation has an obligation or has made payments  

on behalf of the investee. 

 

iii. Foreign Currency Transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Corporation’s entities 

at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  The methods used to account for assets and liabilities relating 

to foreign currency transactions entered into by the Corporation’s entities, and to measure the foreign exchange 

risk arising on such transactions, depend upon whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary 

or non-monetary item.   

 

Receivables, liabilities and other monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 

translated at the functional currency spot exchange rate at the statement of financial position date.  Exchange 

differences that arise between the rate at the transaction date and the one in effect at the payment date or the rate 

at the statement of financial position date are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as other 

income or expense. 
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Drilling and other equipment, inventories and other non-monetary items purchased in foreign currencies and that 

are measured on the basis of historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 

transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

 

iv. Foreign Operations 

When entities, which prepare their financial statements in a functional currency other than Canadian dollars, are 

recognized in the consolidated financial statements, the income and expenses are translated at the monthly 

average exchange rates. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars at the 

rate of exchange prevailing at the statement of financial position date.   

 

Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income in the accumulated other 

comprehensive income account.  The exchange differences arising on the translation to the Corporation’s 

presentation currency are recognized directly in the cumulative translation reserve as a separate component of 

equity.  On disposal of a foreign operation, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation 

reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as part 

of the profit or loss on disposal.   

 

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor 

likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are 

considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognized in other comprehensive 

income, and are presented within equity in accumulated other comprehensive income.  

 

 

b) Financial Instruments 
 

i. Non-Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Corporation initially recognizes trade and other receivables on the date that they originate. All other financial 

assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at 

which the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 

and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or 

to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 



Consolidated Financial Statements & Notes 

 

 

 

-53- 

During the year, the Corporation had the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, and trade and other receivables. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-for-trading or is designated 

as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the 

Corporation manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in 

accordance with the Corporation’s documented risk management or investment strategy. Upon initial recognition, 

attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment losses.  Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents and other financial liabilities 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three-months or less. 

Operating facility draws that are repayable on demand, and form an integral part of the Corporation’s cash 

management, are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of  

cash flows. 

 

The Corporation initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are 

originated. All other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 

 

The Corporation has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings, operating facility, and 

trade and other payables. 

 

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. 
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ii. Share Capital 

Common shares 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and 

share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

 

 

c) Drilling and Other Equipment 
 

i. Recognition and Measurement 

Items of drilling and other equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.   

 

Cost is comprised of the acquisition price, costs directly attributable to the acquisition and preparation costs of the 

asset until the time when it is ready to be put into operation.  Where material, borrowing costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to be 

ready for use) are included in capitalized cost.  Borrowing costs have not been material to the cost of assets for 

any period presented.  The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any 

other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use. 

 

When parts of an item of drilling and other equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of drilling and other equipment.   

 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of drilling and other equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 

from disposal with the carrying amount of drilling and other equipment, and are recognized net within other income 

in the Corporation’s profit or loss.  

 

ii. Subsequent Costs 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of drilling and other equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the 

item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation, and its 

cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-

day servicing of drilling and other equipment (repair and maintenance) are recognized in the Corporation’s profit or 

loss as incurred. 
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iii. Depreciation 

Depreciation expense is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of drilling 

and other equipment and is calculated using the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other 

amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.   

 

Significant components of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from 

the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately. 

 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

Directional drilling equipment 4 to 8 years straight-line, 0 to 20 percent residual value 

Office and computer equipment 3 to 5 years straight-line 

Machinery and equipment 5 years straight-line 

Vehicles 5 years straight-line 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 

appropriate.   

 

iv. Research and Development Costs 

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge 

and understanding is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved product and 

process. Development expenditure is capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product 

or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Corporation 

intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure 

capitalized includes the cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the 

asset for its intended use, and borrowing costs. Other development expenditures are recognized in profit or  

loss as incurred. 

 

Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses. 
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Subsequent Expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 

asset to which is relates. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  

 

 

d) Goodwill 
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in the goodwill account.  

 

Subsequent measurement 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  In respect of equity-accounted investees, the 

carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and any impairment loss is 

allocated to the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investee as a whole. 

 

 

e) Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of inventories is based on the 

first-in first-out method, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion 

costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.     

 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and selling expenses. 

 

 

f) Impairment 
 

i. Financial Assets (Including Receivables) 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates 

that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect 

on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring 

of an amount due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider otherwise, and indications 

that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy. 
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The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All individually 

significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment.  

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 

original effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against 

receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the discount. 

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss.  

 

ii. Non-Financial Assets 

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 

exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite 

useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are 

grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (“CGU”). For the purposes of goodwill 

impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the group of CGUs that is expected 

to benefit from the synergies of the combination. This allocation is subject to an operating segment ceiling test and 

reflects the lowest level at which that goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.  Goodwill was allocated 

to the Canadian CGU. 

 

The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a  

corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate 

asset belongs. 

 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are 

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 
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An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized 

in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 

exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 

loss had been recognized. 

 

iii. Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits  

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 

service is provided. 

 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Corporation 

has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 

employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as an employee 

expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become 

entitled to the awards (vesting period). The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of 

awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the 

amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service 

and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.  

 

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share Retention Awards, which are settled in cash, 

is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees 

unconditionally become entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement 

date.  Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized as personnel expense in profit or loss. 
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g) Provisions 
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding 

of the discount is recognized as finance cost. 

 

 

h) Revenue 
Revenue from services rendered is recognized in profit and loss as services are provided based on the proportion 

of total services delivered at the statement of financial position date. The Corporation’s services are sold based 

upon bid acceptance or contracts with customers that include fixed or determinable prices based upon daily, hourly 

or job rates.  The criteria for recognition of revenue are: 

 probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, 

 stage of completion of the transaction at the statement of financial position date can be measured 

reliably, 

 amount of revenue can be measured reliably, and 

 costs incurred and costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably. 

Based on these criteria, sales of horizontal and directional drilling services are recognized in the period in which 

services are rendered.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received and is recorded net of 

sales tax, duties, customer discounts and similar charges.  Where the contract outcome cannot be measured 

reliably, revenue is recognized only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered. 

 

Revenue is reported net of supplier costs when the Corporation is acting as an agent between the client and the 

supplier.  Factors considered to determine whether the Corporation is a principal or an agent are whether it is the 

primary obligor to the client, it assumes credit and delivery risks, or it adds meaningful value to the supplier’s 

product or service. 

 

Income from recharges of freight and other activities which are incidental to the normal revenue generating 

activities is included in drilling service revenue. 
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i) Lease Payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of 

the lease. 

 

 

j) Finance Income and Finance Expense 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the 

Corporation’s profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  

 

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in the Corporation’s profit or loss 

using the effective interest method. 

 

 

k) Income Tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax  

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating 

to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the 

initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to 

temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 

tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
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entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 

assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax 

assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 

related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

Tax Exposures 

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Corporation takes into account the impact of uncertain 

tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due.  This assessment relies on estimates and 

assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events.  New information may become available 

that causes the Corporation to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such 

changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 

 

 

l) Asset Held for Sale 
Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use, are 

classified as held for sale.  Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are measured in 

accordance with the Corporation’s accounting policies.  Thereafter, the assets are measured at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.  Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and 

subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.  Once classified as held for sale, 

drilling and other equipment is no longer amortized or depreciated. 

 

 

m) Earnings per Share 
The Corporation presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares.  Basic per share 

amounts are calculated by dividing the earnings or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Corporation by 

the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held.  

Diluted per share amounts are calculated by adjusting the earnings or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 

and the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of 

all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees. 

 

 

  



PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2012 Annual Report 

 

 

 

-62- 

n) Segment Reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Corporation that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 

Corporation’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the 

Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 

and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

 

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 

can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the 

Corporation’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.  

 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire drilling and other equipment, and 

intangible assets other than goodwill. 

 

 

 

 4. New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted: 
 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 

after January 1, 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  Those which 

may be relevant to the Corporation are set out below.  The Corporation does not plan to adopt these standards early. 

 

 

a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010),  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009) 
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets.  Under 

IFRS 9 (2009), financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held 

and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows.  IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial 

liabilities.  The International Accounting Standards Board currently has an active project to make limited 

amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements to address 

the impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. 

 

IFRS 9 (2010 and 2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 with early adoption 

permitted.  The adoption of IFRS 9 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial 

assets and financial liabilities.  
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b) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,  

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements,  

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (2011) 
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated.  The adoption 

of IFRS 10 is not expected to change the Corporation’s consolidation conclusion in respect to its investees (see 

Note 3(a)). 

 

Under IFRS 11, the structure of the joint arrangement, although still an important consideration, is no longer the 

main factor in determining the type of joint arrangement and therefore the subsequent accounting.  The 

Corporation’s interest in a joint operation, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the assets 

and obligations for the liabilities, will be accounted for on the basis of the Corporation’s interest in those assets and 

liabilities.  The Corporation’s interest in a joint venture, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to 

the net assets, will be equity-accounted. The Corporation has determined that the adoption of this standard may 

result in the reclassification of its joint arrangement but it may not result in a change to the current accounting for 

this interest (see Note 3(a) (ii)). 

 

IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements about an entity’s interests in 

subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities.  The Corporation is currently 

assessing the disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, interests in joint arrangements and associates 

in comparison with the existing disclosures. IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of information about the nature, risks 

and financial effects of these interests. 

 

These standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption 

permitted. 

 

 

c) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  
IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, and replaces the fair value 

measurement guidance that is currently dispersed throughout IFRS.  Subject to limited exceptions, IFRS 13 is 

applied when fair value measurements or disclosures are required or permitted by other IFRS.  The Corporation is 

currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of IFRS 13 to its fair value disclosures.  IFRS 13 is effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. 
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 5. Inventories: 
 

Inventories are mainly comprised of drilling and other equipment repair parts.  In 2012, consumed repair parts included 

in direct costs amounted to $32.1 million (2011 - $ 28.8 million). 

 

 

 

 6. Assets Held for Sale: 
 

A piece of land and an operations centre currently being constructed are presented as assets held for sale following the 

commitment of Corporation’s Management to a plan to sell the land and the operations centre as a package on a sale-

and-leaseback arrangement.  Subsequent to year end, a purchase-sale agreement was entered to sell the land and 

operations centre for $23.1 million.  Closing is expected on September 1, 2013 and is subject to due diligence by the 

purchaser on property.  No impairment loss has been recognized as a result of reclassifying the land and operations 

centre as assets held for sale.  As at December 31, 2012, the commitments relating to the new operations centre are 

estimated to be $9.0 million. 
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 7. Drilling and Other Equipment: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 

Directional 
Drilling 

Equipment 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment 

Office and 
Computer 

Equipment 
Development 

Costs Vehicles Building Land Total 

Cost         

Balance at  
  January 1, 2012 157,841 6,849 3,429 3,393 526 1,092 133 173,263 

Additions 47,915 986 1,454 151 935 11 - 51,452 

Disposals (9,901) (167) (70) - (93) - - (10,231) 

Effect of movement  
  in exchange rate (321) 56 (10) - 7 (24) (3) (295) 

Balance at  
  December 31, 2012 195,534 7,724 4,803 3,544 1,375 1,079 130 214,189 

Accumulated Depreciation  

 

   

Balance at  
  January 1, 2012 46,952 2,918 1,808 579 360 74 - 52,691 

Depreciation for  
  the year 18,328 1,289 568 904 193 54 - 21,336 

Disposals (3,689) (129) (70) - (31) - - (3,919) 

Effect of movement  
  in exchange rate (255) (21) (10) - (1) (2) - (289) 

Balance at  
  December 31, 2012 61,336 4,057 2,296 1,483 521 126 - 69,819 

Carrying Amounts at 
  December 31, 2012 134,198 3,667 2,507 2,061 854 953 130 144,370 
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 
Directional 

Drilling 
Equipment 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment 

Office and 
Computer 

Equipment 
Development 

Costs Vehicles Building Land Total 

Cost         

Balance at  
  January 1, 2011 120,690 5,125 2,478 2,284 471 1,012 130 132,190 

Additions 46,061 948 992 1,109 90 80 - 49,280 

Disposals (7,382) 193 (82) - (38) - - (7,309) 

Effect of movement  
  in exchange rate (1,528) 583 41 - 3 - 3 (898) 

Balance at  
  December 31, 2011 157,841 6,849 3,429 3,393 526 1,092 133 173,263 

Accumulated Depreciation  

 

     

Balance at  
  January 1, 2011 36,585 1,711 1,316 252 321 21 - 40,206 

Depreciation for  
  the year 13,852 1,334 551 327 56 51 - 16,171 

Disposals (3,189) (169) (77) - (17) - - (3,452) 

Effect of movement  
  in exchange rate (296) 42 18 - - 2 - (234) 

Balance at  
  December 31, 2011 46,952 2,918 1,808 579 360 74 - 52,691 

Carrying Amounts at 
  January 1, 2011 84,105 3,414 1,162 2,192 150 991 130 92,144 

Carrying Amounts at 
  December 31, 2011 110,889 3,931 1,621 2,814 166 1,018 133 120,572 

 

 

a) Capital Commitments 
During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Corporation entered into commitments to purchase drilling and 

other equipment for $7.0 million; delivery is expected to occur within the next quarter. 

 

 

 

 8. Goodwill: 
 

During the year, the Corporation had goodwill with a carrying amount of $8,876,351. 

 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at the end of each year, or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.  
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For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Corporation’s operating segments which represent 

the lowest level within the Corporation at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes (see note 19).   

 

The aggregate carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the Canadian CGU. 

 

The recoverable amount of the Canadian CGU was determined using calculations of value in use, which is the present 

value of projected future cash flows based on the five-year budget approved by Management.  Value in use in 2013 was 

determined similarly as in 2012. The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow projections: 

 Cash flows were projected based on past experience, actual operating results and the five-year business plan 

commencing 2013.  

 Cash flows for a further five-year period were extrapolated assuming Canadian activity remains flat over the 

next five years.  This assumption is consistent with historical performance and long-term industry averages. 

 A pre-tax discount rate of 6.5 percent that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

risks specific to the Canadian CGU.   

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent Management’s assessment of future trends in the service 

industry and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data). 

 

 

 

 9. Equity-Accounted Investees: 
 

2012 Relationship Ownership Carrying Amount 

RigManager International Inc. (“RMII”) Jointly-controlled entity 50% 3,007,316 

RMS Systems Inc. (“RMS”) Associate 19.5% 2,002,976 

   5,010,292 
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a) Investment in RigManager International Inc.  
 

 2012 

Consideration paid at formation of the joint venture, including transaction costs 2,851,140 

Additional investments through preferred share subscriptions 581,873 

Share in the loss of RMII (425,697) 

Carrying amount, December 31, 2012 3,007,316 

 

On May 18, 2012, the Corporation entered into a joint venture with RMS, pursuant to which, the parties have 

incorporated RMII with both parties holding a 50 percent interest. Pursuant to the joint venture, RMS transferred all 

of its interest in its wholly-owned US subsidiary, RigManager Inc., to RMII and granted RMII an exclusive perpetual 

license to market and distribute RMS’ electronic drilling recorder technology.  The investment in the jointly-

controlled entity is accounted for using the equity method.  RMII is not a publicly listed entity and consequently 

does not have a quoted share price. 

 

 

b) Investment in RMS Systems Inc. 
 

 2012 

Initial investment in publicly traded equity securities 910,455 

Loss in fair value of investment in equity securities (490,245) 

Carrying amount, prior to additional investment 420,210 

Additional investment, October 22, 2012 1,710,000 

Share in the loss of RMS, for the period from October 22, 2012 (127,234) 

Carrying amount, December 31, 2012 2,002,976 

 

On January 25, 2012, the Corporation had invested in publicly traded equity securities of RMS, which has been 

designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  The decrease in fair value of $490,245 for the 

period up to October 22, 2012, is included in other expense in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive 

income (see note 17). 

 

On October 22, 2012, the Corporation subscribed for 9,500,000 common shares of RMS at a price of $0.18 per 

common share, or approximately $1.7 million, and now holds 19.5 percent interest in RMS.  As part of this 

transaction, a second representative of PHX Energy was appointed to the Board of Directors of RMS which is now 

comprised of six members. As a result, the Corporation has concluded that it has significant influence over RMS 

and accordingly, from October 22, 2012, the investment has been accounted for using the equity method.   
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Based on its closing price of $0.22 at December 31, 2012, the fair value of the Corporation’s investment in RMS is 

$2.5 million. 

 

Summary of financial information for equity-accounted investees is as follows: 

 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2012 
Total 

Assets 
Total 

Liabilities Net Assets Net Loss 

Corporation’s 
Share of Net 

Assets 

Corporation’s 
Share of Net 

Loss 

RigManager International Inc. 6,379 622 5,757 (851) 2,879 (426) 

RMS Systems Inc. 9,195 1,002 8,193 (2,737) 1,598 (127) 

 15,574 1,624 13,950 (3,588) 4,477 (553) 

 

 

 

 10. Loans and Borrowings: 
 

On September 6, 2012, the Corporation entered into a new syndicated loan agreement with its bank.  Summarized 

below are the facilities available under the new agreement, corresponding terms, and carrying amounts: 

  

(in thousands of dollars) 

 
Currency 

Amount of 
Facility Date of Maturity 

Carrying Amount at 
December 31, 2012 

Carrying Amount at 
December 31, 2011 

Operating Facility CAD 10,000 Due on demand 5,898 - 

Syndicated Facility – current portion CAD 15,000 September 30, 2013 15,000 - 

Syndicated Facility – long-term CAD 80,000 September 6, 2015 80,000 56,000 

US Operating Facility USD 25,000 September 6, 2015 - - 

 

Included in the carrying amount of the operating facility as at December 31, 2012 are amounts drawn of $8.4 million 

offset by positive cash balances with the same bank of $2.5 million. 

 

The facilities bear interest based primarily on the Corporation’s senior debt to earnings before interest, taxes, 

depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio, as defined in the agreement.  At the Corporation’s option, interest is at 

the bank’s prime rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 0.75 percent to a maximum of 2 percent, or the 

bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 1.75 percent to a maximum of 3 percent.  

The maturity date can be extended for another year at the option of the lender.   
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Under the syndicated loan agreement, the Corporation is required to maintain certain financial covenants.  As at 

December 31, 2012, the Corporation was in compliance with all its financial covenants as follows: 

 

Ratio 
   

Covenant   As at December 31, 2012 

Senior debt to EBITDA  < or = 3.00:1.00  2.16:1.00 

Working capital ratio > or = 1.25:1.00  2.32:1.00 

Interest coverage ratio > or = 3.00:1.00  14.42:1.00 

    

 

All the credit facilities are secured by a general security agreement over all assets of the Corporation located in Canada 

and the US.  

 

 

 

 11. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities: 
 

a) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
The Corporation has unrecognized deferred tax assets of $3.1 million (2011 - $2.3 million) in relation to non-capital 

tax losses that can be carried forward against future taxable income of the entities in which the losses arose.  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the losses as they may not be used to offset taxable 

profits elsewhere in the Corporation, and they have arisen in subsidiaries that have not established indicators 

demonstrating it is more likely than not that future profits will be available to utilize those loss carry-forwards.  The 

tax losses expire starting in 2013. 

 

There are no other deductible temporary differences that have not been recognized at the reporting date.   
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b) Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 

Years ended December 31,  2012  2011 

Deferred income tax liabilities:     

Drilling and other equipment $ 14,305,101 $ 15,551,987 

Partnership income  5,394,000  9,829,000 

Investment tax credits  500,000  500,000 

Other  -  12,000 

  20,199,101  25,892,987 

Deferred income tax assets:     

Non-capital income tax losses   (4,752,220)  (15,893,033) 

Other (including foreign and other tax credits)  (6,805,023)  (5,550,955) 

  (11,557,243)  (21,443,988) 

Net deferred income tax liability $ 8,641,858 $ 4,448,999 

 

As at December 31, 2012, $4.8 million of deferred income tax assets resulted from non-capital income tax losses 

of $1.9 million in Canada  and $2.9 million in the US (2011 - $8.1 million in Canada and $7.8 million in the US). 

 

 

 

 12. Share Capital: 
 

a) Authorized and Issued Shares 
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares. 

 Number Amount 

Balance as at January 1, 2011 27,539,373 $ 90,876,458 

Issued shares pursuant to share option plan  462,570  5,750,117 

Issued shares pursuant to DRIP 89,119  956,480 

Balance as at December 31, 2011 28,091,062 $ 97,583,055 

    

Issued shares pursuant to share option plan  50,868 $ 658,181 

Issued shares pursuant to DRIP 99,441  859,882 

Balance as at December 31, 2012 28,241,371 $ 99,101,118 
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b) Weighted-Average Number of Shares 
 

 2012 2011 

Issued shares at January 1, 28,091,062  27,539,373 

    

Effect of share options exercised  40,434  289,602 

Effect of shares issued pursuant to DRIP 43,739  38,800 

Weighted-average number of shares 28,175,235  27,867,775 

 

 

c) Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share 
 

2012 
Income Shares Per Share 

(numerator) (denominator)  Amount 

Basic earnings per share: $ 17,707,028 28,175,235 $ 0.63 

      

Diluted earnings per share:      

Dilutive effect of share option conversions  - 58,177   

Income available to shareholders $ 17,707,028 28,233,412 $ 0.63 

 

      

2011 

Income Shares Per Share 

(numerator) (denominator)  Amount 

Basic earnings per share: $ 18,328,246 27,867,775 $ 0.66 

      

Diluted earnings per share:      

Dilutive effect of share option conversions  - 412,026   

Income available to shareholders $ 18,328,246 28,279,801 $ 0.65 

 
The calculation of diluted earnings per share excluded anti-dilutive options. These are options that would not be 

exercised because their exercise price is higher than the average market value of the shares for the year. Including 

those options would cause the diluted earnings per share to be overstated. The number of excluded options was 

1,403,750 in 2012 (2011 – 585,130).  
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d) Dividends 
The Corporation makes monthly cash dividends to its shareholders.  On February 28, 2012, the Corporation 

announced a 50 percent increase in its monthly dividend to $0.06 per share.  The dividend increase became 

effective for the Corporation’s March 2012 dividend.  On December 31, 2012, PHX Energy declared a dividend of 

$0.06 per share or $1.6 million, payable on January 15, 2013. In aggregate, dividends of $19.2 million  

(2011 - $13.4 million) were declared for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation paid monthly dividends totaling $18.6 million  

(2011 - $12.5 million).   

 

 

 

 13. Share Based Payments: 
 

a) Share Option Program (Equity-Settled) 
The Corporation has a share option program that entitles key management personnel and senior/other employees 

to purchase shares in the Corporation. Grants under the plan vest as to one-third 6 months from the grant date, 

one-third 18 months from grant date and one-third 30 months from grant date. In accordance with these programs, 

options are exercisable using the five-day weighted-average trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to 

the date of grant, or in the case of a US option holder, the trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to 

the date of grant.  The options have a term of five-years.  

 

Summary of option grants in 2012 

Number Exercise Price  Expiration Date  
Fair 

Value 

27,500 $ 11.44  March 1, 2017 $ 2.79 

125,000  9.16  May 23, 2017  1.32 

15,000  9.10  May 23, 2017  1.30 

5,000  7.99  August 10, 2017  0.97 

10,000  7.95  August 10, 2017  0.96 

110,000  9.22  November 9, 2017  1.33 

292,500       

 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, a total of 50,868 (2011 - 462,570) options were exercised at exercise 

prices between $7.48 and $8.98 (2011 - $4.20 to $10.24), a total of 79,503 (2011 - 116,842) options were forfeited, 

and 30,630 (2011 - 69,005) options were cancelled.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation had a total of 

2,624,820 (2011 - 2,493,321) options outstanding which expire over a period of less than 1 to 5 years. 
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The fair value of options that were exercised for the year ended December 31, 2012 in the amount of $232,003 

(2011 - $2,298,676) has been added to share capital. 

 
The Corporation values all of its share options using the Black-Scholes model.  The Corporation’s determination of 

fair value of options on the date of grant is affected by the Corporation’s share price as well as assumptions 

regarding a number of variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the Corporation’s expected share 

price volatility over the term of the options of 41 percent, annual dividends of $0.72, and a risk free interest rate of 

1.3 percent. The amounts computed according to the Black-Scholes model method may not be indicative of the 

actual values realized upon the exercise of these options by the holders.  During 2012, the Corporation recognized a 

total compensation expense of $2,264,706 (2011 - $2,970,553) for share options granted between 2010 and 2012.  

A summary of the status of the plan as at December 31, 2012, is presented below: 

 

 2012 2011 

 
Options 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price Options 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price 

Outstanding, beginning of year 2,493,321 $ 9.94 1,837,359 $ 8.45 

Granted 292,500  9.33 1,304,380  11.07 

Exercised (50,868)  8.38 (462,571)  7.46 

Forfeited / cancelled (110,133)  10.72 (185,847)  9.34 

Expired -  - -  - 

Outstanding, end of year 2,624,820 $ 9.87 2,493,321 $ 9.94 

Options exercisable, end of year 1,569,448 $ 9.69 982,485 $ 9.21 
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The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 

 

 
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Original 
Exercise Price Number 

Weighted-Average 
Remaining Contractual Life 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price Number 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price 

$ 7.95 10,000 4.6 yrs $ 7.95 - $ - 

 7.99 5,000 4.6 yrs  7.99 -  - 

 8.50 396,894 1.4 yrs  7.78 396,894  7.78 

 9.10 15,000 4.4 yrs  9.10 5,000  9.10 

 9.16 100,000 4.4 yrs  9.16 33,332  9.16 

 9.22 110,000 4.9 yrs  9.22 -  - 

 9.40 584,176 2.6 yrs  9.25 380,635  9.25 

 10.00 25,000 3.6 yrs  10.00 8,333  10.00 

 10.04 492,250 3.9 yrs  10.04 164,026  10.04 

 10.24 143,000 0.2 yrs  8.60 143,000  8.60 

 10.63 169,500 3.9 yrs  10.63 56,465  10.63 

 11.44 27,500 4.2 yrs  11.44 9,165  11.44 

 12.09 358,500 3.4 yrs  12.09 238,957  12.09 

 12.18 163,000 3.4 yrs  12.18 108,641  12.18 

 15.42 15,000 0.6 yrs  14.23 15,000  14.23 

 15.55 10,000 0.4 yrs  15.55 10,000  15.55 

  2,624,820 3.0 yrs $ 9.87 1,569,448 $ 9.69 

 

 

b) Retention Award Plan 
The Retention Award Plan results in eligible participants receiving cash compensation in relation to the value of a 

specified number of underlying notional Retention Awards (“RA”).  Retention Awards vest evenly over a period of 

three-years.  Upon vesting and subsequent exercise, the holder is entitled to receive a cash payment based on the 

fair value of the underlying shares determined using the five-day weighted-average trading price of the shares 

ending immediately prior to the exercise date plus accrued reinvested dividends. 

 

The Corporation recorded a total of $897,106 (2011 - $847,626) in compensation expense relating to this plan for 

the year ended December 31, 2012. The expense is included in selling, general and administrative expense and 

has a corresponding liability included in trade and other payables. There were 356,700 RA’s outstanding as at 

December 31, 2012 (2011 - 214,691).  
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c) Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”) 
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation issued 99,441 shares pursuant to the DRIP at prices 

between $7.48 and $10.61. 

 

 

 

 14. Selling General & Administrative Expenses: 
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses include salaries and employee benefits, share-based payments, facility 

and office expenses, and other administrative charges. 

 

 

 

 15. Expenses by Nature: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Years ended December 31, 2012 2011 

Personnel expenses 106,292 84,092 

Contract labour 41,145 41,866 

Equipment expenses 34,333 29,700 

Consumed repair parts 32,130 28,790 

Depreciation and amortization 21,336 16,171 

Field and freight expenses 17,093 15,552 

Facility and office expenses 9,082 8,051 

Insurance and business and sales taxes 4,700 3,421 

Travel and entertainment 4,596 3,591 

Other 3,913 3,759 
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 16. Personnel Expenses: 
 

Years ended December 31,  2012 2011 

Salaries and employee benefits $ 103,130,636 $               80,273,526 

Share-based payments  3,161,812 3,818,179 

 $ 106,292,448 $               84,091,705 

 

 

 

 17. Other Income: 
 

Years ended December 31,  2012 2011 

Gains on disposition of drilling equipment $ (2,727,295) $               (5,588,728) 

Foreign exchange losses  1,267,142       1,376,812 

Losses from the change in fair value of 
     investment in equity securities 

 490,245 - 

Provision for bad debt  15,059 446,521 

 $ (954,849) $               (3,765,395) 

 

 

 

 18. Income Taxes: 
 

Years ended December 31,  2012  2011 

Current tax expense:      

Current period $ 942,101 $ 1,113,035 

Adjustment for prior periods  637,688  147,905 

  1,579,789  1,260,940 

     

Deferred tax expense:     

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  5,773,679  7,150,330 

Adjustment for prior periods  (792,000)  - 

  4,981,679  7,150,330 

     

Total income tax expense  $ 6,561,468 $ 8,411,270 
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 

Years ended December 31,   2012   2011 

       

Net earnings  $ 17,707,028  $ 18,328,246 

Total income tax expense   6,561,468   8,411,270 

Earnings before income taxes   24,268,496   26,739,516 

       

Income tax using the Corporation’s domestic tax rate 25.0%  6,067,124 26.5%  7,085,972 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (4.3%)  (1,033,143) (4.9%)  (1,312,977) 

Non-taxable portion of gains on disposal of assets  (1.0%)  (253,743) (1.8%)  (493,982) 

Non-deductible share-based payments and other 
    expenses 3.8%  912,661 3.6%  959,910 

Current year losses in foreign jurisdictions for which no 
     deferred tax asset was recognized 4.2%  1,016,989 4.8%  1,294,851 

Other (0.7%)  (148,420) 3.3%  877,496 

 27.0% $ 6,561,468 31.5% $ 8,411,270 

 

 

 

 19. Operating Segments: 
 

The Corporation provides directional and horizontal oil and natural gas well drilling services. PHX Energy’s reportable 

segments have been aligned geographically as follows: 

 

Information about reportable segments 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Canada United States International Total 

Years ended December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Revenue 126,712 144,416 137,712 93,483 37,296 22,164 301,720 260,063 

Reportable segment profit before  
    income taxes 16,079 26,841 14,360 5,600 8,778 3,666 39,217 36,107 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  Canada United States International Total 

As at December 31, 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Drilling and other equipment 86,417 80,756 38,882 24,788 19,071 14,908 144,370 120,452 

Goodwill 8,876 8,876 - - - - 8,876 8,876 
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Reconciliation of reportable segment profit and other material items 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Years ended December 31, 2012 2011 

Reportable segment profit before income taxes 39,217 36,107 

Corporate:   

   Selling, general and administrative expenses 10,133 8,912 

   Research and development expenses 1,985 2,124 

   Finance expense 3,233 2,097 

   Other income (955) (3,766) 

   Share of loss of equity-accounted investee 553 - 

Earnings before income taxes 24,268 26,740 

 

 

 

 20. Financial Instruments: 
 

a) Credit Risk        
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas 

exploration and development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be 

directly impacted by a decline in economic conditions, which would impair the customers’ ability to satisfy their 

obligations to the Corporation. During the year ended December 31, 2012, one customer comprised 8 percent of 

the total revenue. All accounts receivable balances outstanding over 120 days represent 7 percent or 

approximately $4.5 million of total receivables on the statement of financial position at December 31, 2012.  

Management has provided an allowance of $0.4 million for all amounts it considers uncollectable at  

December 31, 2012. 

 

The Corporation has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk, which consists of conducting 

financial and other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Corporation monitors 

and manages its credit risk on an ongoing basis. 
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b) Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Corporation has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Corporation’s approach to managing 

liquidity risk is to ensure that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. 

Management typically forecasts cash flows for a period of twelve-months to identify financing requirements. These 

requirements are then addressed through a combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets.  

The Corporation believes that future cash flows generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity 

through capital and banking markets will be adequate to meet its financial obligations. 

 
The following table reflects the Corporation’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to continuing 

operations as at December 31, 2012: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Operating facility 5,898 - - - - 

Loans and borrowings 15,000 - 80,000 - - 

Operating leases 3,198 2,154 1,894 1,540 1,376 

New operations centre commitment 8,963 - - - - 

Trade and other payables  38,165 - - - - 

Dividends payable 1,626 - - - - 

Total  72,850 2,154 81,894 1,540 1,376 

 

 

c) Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The Corporation has designated its trade and other payables and dividends payable as other financial liabilities 

carried at amortized cost. Accounts receivable are designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized 

cost. The Corporation’s carrying values of these items approximate their fair value due to the relatively short 

periods to maturity of the instruments. Loans and borrowings have been designated as an other financial liability, 

and it is measured at amortized cost. The fair value of loans and borrowings included in the consolidated statement 

of financial position approximates fair values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest. 

 
 

d) Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in the market 

interest rates. The Corporation has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest 

payment amounts.  

 

A one percent change in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s profit by $773,000.  
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e) Foreign Exchange Risk 
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates. Due to operations of the Corporation’s subsidiaries in the US, Russia, Peru, Albania and 

Colombia, the Corporation has an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. The carrying values of US dollar, 

Russian rouble, Peruvian soles, Albanian lek, and Colombian peso denominated monetary assets and liabilities 

and earnings are subject to foreign exchange risk.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, foreign exchange 

losses of $1.3 million (see note 17) resulted mainly from fluctuations in the LEK-CDN and RUR-CDN exchange 

rates.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily in the US.  The 

Corporation will examine options with respect to managing foreign exchange risk. 

 

The following chart represents the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk in the US: 

 

  USD  USD 

As at December 31,  2012  2011 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,131,991 $ 3,926,658 

Trade and other receivables  34,888,459  17,048,631 

Trade and other payables   (11,656,660)  (8,875,253) 

Current tax assets   51,313  262,500 

Statement of financial position exposure $ 24,415,103 $ 12,362,536 

 

The following exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31: 

 

 Average Rate  December 31 Close Rate 

 2012 2011  2012 2011 

USD 0.9996 0.9893  0.9949 1.0170 

 

A 10 percent weakening of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar at December 31, 2012 would have increased 

the Corporation’s equity by $1.5 million and increased net earnings by $0.3 million respectively. This analysis 

assumes that all other variables remain constant at December 31, 2012. 
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 21. Capital Management: 
 

The Corporation’s primary objective of capital management is to maintain a strong capital base, in conjunction with 

conservative long-term debt levels so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence, and to sustain future 

development of the business.  The Corporation seeks to maintain a balance between higher returns that might be 

possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security created by a strong equity position.  

 

The Corporation’s Management considers the capital structure to consist of long-term debt, including any current portion 

of long-term debt, and shareholders’ equity.  As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation had $95.0 million in loans and 

borrowings and $115.1 million in shareholders’ equity.  The Corporation’s resulting long-term debt to equity ratio was 

0.83 as at December 31, 2012.   

 

The Corporation prepares annual and quarterly operating and capital expenditure budgets, and forecasts to assist with the 

management of its capital.  The Corporation intends to maintain a flexible capital structure and it may alter its dividend 

levels, raise new equity or issue new debt in response to a change in economic conditions. 

 

The Corporation is subject to capital requirements relating to debt covenants on debt facilities held.  As at  

December 31, 2012, the Corporation was in compliance with all debt covenants (see note 10). 

 

There were no changes to the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2012. 
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 22. Operating Leases: 
 

The Corporation is committed to the following minimum payments under operating leases for equipment, vehicles, and 

premises: 

 

  2012  2011 

2013 $ 3,198 $ 2,483 

2014  2,154  1,882 

2015  1,894  1,750 

2016  1,540  1,514 

2017  1,376  1,382 

 

During 2012, $2.7 million was recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of 

operating leases (2011 – $3.0 million).  

 

 

 

 23. Related Parties: 
 

Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
 

Key management personnel compensation 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 

the activities of the Corporation as a whole.  The Corporation determined that key management personnel consists of 

members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents reporting directly to a 

Chief Executive Officer. 

 

In addition to their salaries, the Corporation also provides annual incentives to executive officers which consist of 

bonuses and commissions, which the Compensation Committee considers comparable to benefits provided to 

executives of other publicly traded oil and natural gas service companies. 

 

Executive officers also participate in the Corporation’s share option program and Retention Award plan (see note 13).   
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The Corporation, either directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, has entered into executive employment 

agreements with certain executive officers that provide for termination payments.  These agreements continue 

indefinitely until terminated in accordance with the terms thereof and the base salary payable thereunder is subject to 

annual review. 

 

Key management personnel compensation comprised: 

 

Years ended December 31,  2012  2011 

Base salaries, benefits, and directors’ remuneration $ 1,791,266 $ 1,556,733 

Bonuses and commissions  4,261,413  3,516,652 

Share-based payments  876,122  1,620,192 

 $ 6,928,801 $ 6,693,577 

 

 

Key management personnel and director transactions 

Directors of the Corporation control 21 percent of the shares of the Corporation. 

 

Directors are entitled to receive an annual retainer as well as a fee for each meeting of the Board or Committee of the 

Board attended.  The Chairman of the Board and the Lead Director receive an additional annual retainer, as do the 

Chairs of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee.  

Independent Directors are also entitled to participate in the retention award plan (see note 13) and can elect to receive 

certain percentages of these fees as Retention Awards under the Retention Award plan. As at December 31, 2012, the 

directors have 178,545 of Retention Awards outstanding (2011 - 77,878). 

 

From time-to-time, Directors of the Corporation, or their related entities, may purchase goods or services from the 

Corporation.  These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Corporation 

employees or customers.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation provided drilling services to Long 

Run Exploration, a related entity of one of the Directors of the Corporation.  The transaction value of the service 

amounted to $0.7 million of which $0.5 million is outstanding as a receivable as of December 31, 2012.  
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 24. Significant Subsidiaries: 
 

 
Country of Incorporation 

Ownership Interest 

2012 2011 

Phoenix Technology Services Inc. Canada 100% 100% 

Phoenix Technology Services LP Canada 100% 100% 

Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc. USA 100% 100% 

Phoenix TSP SAC Peru 100% 90% 

Phoenix Technology Services International Ltd. Cyprus 100% 100% 

Phoenix Technology Holdings Russia Ltd. Cyprus 100% 100% 

Phoenix TSR LLC Russia 100% 100% 
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HSBC Bank Canada 
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Albania Operations Centre
Lagjja “1 Maji”, Rruga “Jani Bakalli”,
Prane Zyrave te Firmes “Mazreku”,
Fier, Albania.
Telephone: +355-6-946-6181

Colombia Sales & Administration Office
Calle 110
#9-25 Edificio Torre Empresarial Pasific
Bogota, Colombia
Telephone: +571-756-9976

Colombia Operations Centre
Autopista Medellin Km.2.5 
Via Parcelas Bodega A-11,
Etapa 1 CIEM 
Cota, Colombia
Telephone: +571-877-3828

Peru Sales & Administration Office
Calle Monterrey 373 Of. 703, 
Urb. Chacarilla, 
Santiago de Surco, Lima.
Telephone: + (511) 355-2106

Peru Operations Centre
Zona Industrial Mz. A, Lote 68
Talara Alta, Talara
Distrito Pariñas, Piura, Peru

Russia Operations Centre
628600 Russian Federation,
Tyumen region, KhMAO-Yugra
Nizhnevartovsk city, 5 Kuzovatkina St.
Building 8 West Industrial Area, Panel 20
Telephone: +7 (3466) 29-34-32
Facsimile: +7 (3466) 29-34-35

Corporate Office
1400, 250 – 2nd Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta T2P 0C1
Telephone: (403) 543-4466
Facsimile: (403) 543-4485
E-mail: investor@phxtech.com

R&D and Operations Centre
11400 – 27th Street S.E.
Calgary, Alberta T2Z 3R6
Telephone: (403) 236-1394
Facsimile: (403) 236-1624

Estevan Operations Centre
5 Devonian Street East
Estevan, Saskatchewan  S4A 2L7
Telephone: (306) 634-7454
Facsimile: (306) 634-7436

Cyprus Administration Office
Suite 110, 25 Aphrodite Street,
1060, Nicosia, Cyprus
Telephone: + 357 22 458-310
Facsimile: + 357 22 458-311

Gulf Coast Operations Centre
1805 Brittmoore Rd.
Houston, Texas 77043
Telephone: (713) 337-0600
Facsimile: (713) 337-0599

Fort Worth Sales Office
Suite 600, 201 Main Street
Fort Worth, Texas 76102
Telephone: (817) 945-3287
Facsimile: (817) 945-3288

Midland Operations Centre
3620 Elkins Road
Midland, TX 79705
Telephone: (432) 684-0057

Oklahoma City Operations Centre
9633 N.W. 6th Street
Oklahoma City, OK 73127
Telephone: (405) 470-0022

Rocky Mountain Operations Centre
2136 N. Oil Drive
Casper, Wyoming 82604
Telephone: (307) 472-5135
Facsimile: (307) 472-5346

Denver Sales Office
Suite 2700, 999-18th Street
Denver, Colorado 80202
Telephone: (303) 357-4617
Facsimile: (303) 446-9111

Northeast Operations
327-A Welch Court
Traverse City, Michigan 49686
Telephone: (231) 995-0100
Facsimile: (231) 995-0200






